Epidemiology of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma

Jeroen Douwes and Neil Pearce

Contents

56.1	Introduction		
56.2	Definiti	ions of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma	2266
	56.2.1	Respiratory Allergy	2266
	56.2.2	Atopy	2266
	56.2.3	Aeroallergens	2266
	56.2.4	Asthma	2267
	56.2.5	Clinical Asthma	2267
	56.2.6	Defining Asthma in Epidemiological Surveys	2269
56.3	Mechai	nisms of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma	2269
	56.3.1	Asthma Phenotypes	2269
	56.3.2	Immunology	2270
56.4	How to	Measure Respiratory Allergies and Asthma in Epidemiological Studies	2272
	56.4.1	Measuring Incidence and Prevalence	2272
	56.4.2	Measuring Risk Factors	2276
	56.4.3	Measuring Causal Mechanisms	2279
56.5	The Gl	obal Burden of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma	2281
	56.5.1	Time Trends	2281
	56.5.2	The European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS)	2284
	56.5.3	The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC)	2284
	56.5.4	What Do the ECRHS and ISAAC Studies Show?	2286
56.6	Causes	of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma	2287
	56.6.1	Risk Factors	2287

J. Douwes (🖂)

N. Pearce

Centre for Public Health Research, School of Public Health, Massey University Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand

Department of Medical Statistics, Faculty of Epidemiology and Population Health, London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine, London, UK

Centre for Public Health Research, School of Public Health, Massey University Wellington, Wellington, New Zealand

	56.6.2	Can the Traditional Risk Factors Explain the International Patterns	
		and Time Trends?	2297
	56.6.3	Protective Factors	2298
	56.6.4	Can Protective Factors Explain the International Patterns	
		and Time Trends?	2301
56.7	The Ro	le of Epidemiology in Respiratory Allergy and Asthma Research	2302
	56.7.1	The Future of Allergy and Asthma Epidemiology	2303
56.8	Conclus	sions	2305
Refere	ences		2305

56.1 Introduction

Asthma has puzzled and confused physicians from the time of Hippocrates to the present day. The word "asthma" comes from a Greek word meaning "panting" (Keeney 1964), but reference to asthma can also be found in ancient Egyptian, Hebrew, and Indian medical writings (Ellul-Micallef 1976; Unger and Harris 1974). There were clear observations of patients experiencing attacks of asthma in the second century and evidence of disordered anatomy in the lung as far back as the seventeenth century (Dring et al. 1689).

More recently, Western countries have experienced an epidemic of respiratory allergy and asthma prevalence (and incidence) that appears to have commenced after the Second World War and has only recently peaked and begun to decline (Pearce et al. 2007). The reasons for the decline remain as mysterious as the reasons for the epidemic itself (Weiland and Pearce 2004). Current WHO estimates suggest that some 300 million persons suffer from asthma, which is the most common chronic disease among children (WHO 2007). In 2010, the annual economic cost of asthma in the United States was estimated to be >\$15 billion in direct costs and >\$5 billion in indirect costs such as lost productivity (American Lung Association 2010).

Formal epidemiological studies of respiratory allergies and asthma commenced about 50 years ago, and in some respects they have failed to deliver the insight or testable hypotheses that have derived from studies of other common diseases. The roots of this failure lie in the problem of defining asthma, and the consequent difficulty of reproducible and conclusive case ascertainment; in the transient nature of the principal symptoms, the fact that asthma is heterogeneous in its underlying pathophysiology; and in the absence of simple sensitive and specific markers for the condition. However, the epidemiology of asthma and allergy is currently undergoing a rapid expansion and has shifted attention from traditional risk factors which may exacerbate asthma, to protective factors that may prevent respiratory allergies and asthma. This growth of interest is occurring in the context of major concerns about the increasing burden of respiratory allergy and asthma morbidity, and the realization that previous etiological theories based on animal models of asthma and clinical observations do not appear to explain the large global increases in asthma prevalence.

This chapter begins with the definitions and the underlying pathology and physiology of respiratory allergies and asthma, before considering the distinctive features of asthma epidemiology. We subsequently review the global burden of respiratory allergies and asthma and discuss a wide range of potential risk and protective factors. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the role of epidemiology in respiratory allergies and asthma research, and the challenges it is facing, followed by a discussion of the foremost issues for the future of respiratory allergies and asthma epidemiology.

56.2 Definitions of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma

56.2.1 Respiratory Allergy

Allergy can be defined as adverse acute or chronic hypersensitivity reactions resulting from immunologic sensitization with production of immunoglobulin (Ig) E against a specific agent or allergen. Thus, the term "allergy" refers to symptomatic conditions (allergic asthma, rhinitis, etc.), whereas the term "sensitization" refers to an individual's immune status assessed by in vivo or in vitro diagnostic tests (see Sect. 56.4.3). Symptoms can be induced by inhalation of allergens, even at very low concentrations. Individuals that are not sensitized to these allergens will usually not show symptoms even with very high exposure. Symptoms in sensitized subjects are caused by inflammatory reactions initiated by allergen-specific IgE antibodies present in the airways. Only a proportion of sensitized subjects show symptoms and are thus also allergic. It can take weeks to years between the first encounter with an allergen and the development of an allergy.

56.2.2 Atopy

"Atopy" (allergic sensitization) is a common term for IgE-mediated sensitization and/or allergic reactions. In population studies, the term "atopy" is used to indicate the predisposition of individuals to produce increased levels of specific or total IgE after exposure to common allergens such as house dust mite, pet, and various food allergens. It is usually assessed by skin prick tests or specific and/or total serum IgE against common allergens (see Sect. 56.4.3), and it can therefore be defined either in terms of skin prick text positivity or elevated serum IgE levels (Pearce et al. 1999). Depending on the definition, about 20% to 40% of people in affluent countries are atopic. In population studies, atopy is often associated with an increased risk of asthma (Pearce et al. 1999), but the association is stronger in "Westernized" countries than in developing countries (Weinmayr et al. 2007).

56.2.3 Aeroallergens

Many macromolecules (particularly proteins) of non-human origin, including those of animals (e.g., arthropod proteins, animal danders, proteins in excretia), plants (e.g., pollens, latex dust), and microorganisms (e.g., spores of fungi such as *Alternaria, Aspergillus,* and *Penicillium*), can act as allergens by inducing a specific IgE response and provoke allergic reactions in sensitized subjects.

Dust mites produce the predominant inhalant allergens in many parts of the world. The most common mite species that produce allergens are *Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus* and *D. farinae*. The major allergens produced by *D. pteronyssinus* (called Der p 1 and Der p 2) are proteases present in high amounts in fecal pellets. *D. farinae* produces as its major allergen Der f 1. Elevated

levels of these allergens have been detected in house dust, mattress dust, and bedding in damp homes (van Strien et al. 1994).

Other important inhalant allergens include proteins associated with cats and dogs, cockroaches, grass and tree pollens, and fungi such as *Alternaria*. Allergens in the occupational environment can range from cow urinary proteins in farming situations to fungal enzymes in the biotechnology and bakery industry. Low molecular weight chemicals such as diisocyanates (e.g., tolueen diisocyanate, TDI) can also cause occupational allergic asthma, but the specific immunological mechanisms have not yet been resolved.

56.2.4 Asthma

The definition of asthma initially proposed at the Ciba Foundation conference in 1959 (Ciba Foundation Guest Symposium 1959) and endorsed by the American Thoracic Society in 1962 (American Thoracic Society Committee on Diagnostic Standards 1962) is that "asthma is a disease characterized by wide variation over short periods of time in resistance to flow in the airways of the lung." Although these features receive lesser prominence in some current definitions, as the importance of airways inflammation is appropriately recognized, they still form the basis of the recent Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) description of asthma as:

... a chronic inflammatory disorder of the airways in which many cells and cellular elements play a role. The chronic inflammation is associated with airway hyper-responsiveness that leads to recurrent episodes of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness, and coughing, particularly at night or in the early morning. These episodes are usually associated with widespread, but variable, airflow obstruction within the lung that is often reversible either spontaneously or with treatment. (GINA 2006)

These three components, chronic airways inflammation, reversible airflow obstruction, and enhanced bronchial reactivity, form the basis of current definitions of asthma. They also represent the major pathophysiological events leading to the symptoms of wheezing, breathlessness, chest tightness, cough, and sputum by which physicians clinically diagnose this disorder.

56.2.5 Clinical Asthma

There is no single test or pathognomic feature which defines the presence or absence of asthma. Furthermore, the variability of the condition means that evidence of it may or may not be present on the day, or at the time, that someone is assessed. Thus, a diagnosis of asthma is made on the basis of the clinical history, combined with physical examination and respiratory function tests over a period of time. Several studies have found the prevalence of physician-diagnosed asthma to be substantially lower than the prevalence of asthma symptoms in the community (e.g., Asher et al. 1998). This is not surprising since a clinical diagnosis of asthma can only be made if a person presents him or herself to a doctor. This requires an initial self-assessment of the symptoms (in terms of severity and frequency), as well as access to a doctor

Asthma classification	CriteriaSymptoms less than once a week; brief exacerbations; nocturnal symptomsnot more than twice a month; FEV_1 or $PEF \ge 80\%$ predicted; FEV_1 or PEF variability <20%			
Intermittent				
Mild persistent	Symptoms more than once a week but less than once a day; exacerbations may affect activity and sleep; nocturnal symptoms more than twice a month; FEV_1 or $PEF \ge 80\%$ predicted; FEV_1 or PEF variability 20–30%			
Moderate persistent	Symptoms daily; exacerbations may affect activity and sleep; nocturnal symptoms more than once a week; daily use of inhaled short-acting β_2 -agonist; FEV ₁ or PEF 60–80% predicted; FEV ₁ or PEF variability >30%			
Severe persistent	Symptoms daily; frequent exacerbations; frequent nocturnal asthma symptoms; limitation of physical activities; FEV_1 or PEF $\leq 60\%$ predicted; FEV_1 or PEF variability $> 30\%$			

 Table 56.1 GINA classification of asthma severity

FEV1 Forced Expiratory Volume in one second, PEF Peak Expiratory Flow

once a self-assessment has been made. Several medical consultations may then be required. Thus, diagnosed asthma is dependent not only on morbidity but also on patient perceptions, physician practice, and the availability of health care.

There are a number of tests that may facilitate the diagnosis and monitoring of asthma. Measurements of lung function are the most frequently used and provide important information on airflow limitation including variability, reversibility, and severity. Airflow limitation is most often measured using spirometry or a peak (expiratory) flow (PEF) meter. Spirometry is the preferred method and forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), and peak expiratory flow (PEF) can be derived from this method as indicators for airway obstruction. Pre- and postbronchodilator treatment is important since it will establish whether obstruction is reversible and will distinguish it from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in which obstruction is mostly irreversible. Reversibility of airway obstruction defined as FEV₁ of $\geq 12\%$ and ≥ 200 mL from the prebronchodilator value is generally accepted as a valid indication of asthma (GINA 2006). However, due to the highly variable nature of the condition, repeated lung function tests are required. PEF meters are inexpensive and easy to use, but they are less precise than spirometry and may underestimate the degree of airflow limitation (Aggarwal et al. 2006).

In subjects with asthma symptoms but normal lung function, bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) testing is often used as a diagnostic aid. BHR constitutes airway narrowing to non-specific stimuli, such as exercise, cold air, and chemical irritants, and can be measured as airway responsiveness to histamine, methacholine, adenosine-5'-monophosphate (AMP), hypertonic saline, or exercise challenge (de Meer et al. 2004a). However, although BHR is related to asthma, it may occur independently of asthma, and vice versa (Pearce et al. 1998a), which makes this test of limited use for individual asthma-diagnostics (see Sect. 56.4.1).

The degree of asthma severity is commonly classified using GINA criteria (GINA 2006) which subdivide asthma into four categories based on frequency and severity of symptoms and lung function (with the worst feature determining the severity classification) (see Table 56.1). However, as emphasized in the updated

2010 GINA guidelines (GINA 2010), asthma involves both the severity of the disease and its responsiveness to treatment. Therefore, asthma could present with severe symptoms and poor lung function but could become completely controlled with low-dose treatment. Thus, the classification of severity had poor predictive value for what treatment was required and what the response to treatment might be. As a consequence, the 2010 guidelines do no longer include the 2006 asthma severity classification. However, it is still a commonly used classification in many epidemiological studies.

56.2.6 Defining Asthma in Epidemiological Surveys

Defining asthma in population-based epidemiological surveys of asthma prevalence or incidence poses even greater difficulties than defining asthma in individual patients. As a result, comparisons of diagnosed asthma between populations are fraught with difficulty, as the differences in diagnostic practice may be greater in magnitude than the real differences in asthma morbidity.

Thus, asthma prevalence surveys usually focus on self-reported (or parental reported) "asthma symptoms" rather than diagnosed asthma. Standardized questionnaires on asthma symptoms have therefore become the cornerstone of large studies of the incidence or prevalence of asthma (Burney et al. 1994; Asher et al. 1995). This approach allows a large number of participants to be surveyed without great cost, in a short time period. Wheezing, chest tightness, breathlessness, and coughing are all symptoms clinically associated with asthma, but epidemiological studies have shown that wheezing is the most important symptom for the identification of asthma, and the majority of questionnaires used to assess asthma prevalence are based on this symptom (Pearce et al. 1998a) (see Sect. 56.4.1 for more detail).

An alternative approach to symptom questionnaires has been to use more "objective" measures such as bronchial responsiveness testing, either alone or in combination with questionnaires (Toelle et al. 1992). However, some have questioned the validity of BHR for the assessment of asthma (Pearce et al. 1998a) (see Sect. 56.4 for more detail).

56.3 Mechanisms of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma

56.3.1 Asthma Phenotypes

Ten years ago it was widely believed that asthma was an atopic disease caused by allergen exposure. The fundamental etiological mechanism was that allergen exposure, particularly in infancy, produced atopic sensitization, and continued exposure resulted in asthma through the development of eosinophilic airways inflammation, bronchial hyperresponsiveness and reversible airflow obstruction. In recent years, it has become increasingly evident that this picture is, at best, too simplistic (Ronchetti et al. 2007; Weinmayr et al. 2007). A systematic review of population-based studies (Pearce et al. 1999) has shown that the proportion of

asthma cases that are attributable to atopy (defined as skin prick test positivity) is usually less than one-half. Standardized comparisons across populations or time periods also show only weak and inconsistent associations between the prevalence of asthma and the prevalence of atopy. For instance, a comparison of asthma and atopy in 9- to 11-year-olds in Albania and the United Kingdom (Priftanji et al. 2001) showed large differences in the prevalence of current wheeze (4.4% and 9.7%, respectively) and exercise-induced bronchial reactivity (0.8% and 5.4%), but not in skin prick test positivity (15.0% and 17.8%), suggesting that large variations in asthma prevalence can occur without differences in frequency of atopy. This was confirmed by the International Study of Allergies and Asthma in Children (ISAAC; see Sects. 56.5.3 and 56.5.4) which showed that the association between atopy and asthma symptoms differed strongly among populations but increased with the level of economic development (Weinmayr et al. 2007). In this study, the proportion of current wheeze attributable to atopy ranged from 0% in Ankara (Turkey) to 93.8% in Guangzhou (China); the overall proportion of asthma cases that were attributable to atopy was only 41% in affluent countries and 20% in non-affluent countries. This is consistent with a recent study among 3,960 children in Ecuador which found a population attributable fraction of only 2.4% for recent wheeze and atopy (Moncayo et al. 2010). A similar study in Salvador, Brazil suggested the proportion of asthma attributable to atopy to be 24.5% (Souza da Cunha et al. 2010), which, although higher than in Ecuador, is substantially lower than the 50% in most Western countries. The European Community Respiratory Health Survey (see Sects. 56.5.2 and 56.5.4) found that the proportion of asthma attributable to atopy in adults ranged from 4% to 61% between individual study centers with an overall estimate of only 30% for all centers combined (Sunyer et al. 2004). Finally, time trend studies have shown different patterns for atopy and astma in the same geographical areas. For example, a recent study in Sweden in 7- to 8-year-olds showed a significant increase in allergic sensitization over a 10-year period (1996-2006) despite asthma symptoms remaining stable over the same period (Bjerg et al. 2010).

Recent studies using sputum induction and/or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) techniques to measure and characterize airways inflammation in asthmatics have also demonstrated that less than 50% of asthma cases are attributable to eosinophilic airway inflammation, the hallmark of allergic asthma (Douwes et al. 2002a; Simpson et al. 2006). Thus, evidence from studies of eosinophilia and asthma is consistent with that from studies of atopy and asthma: in both instances, at most about one-half of asthma cases appears to be due to "allergic" mechanisms. This further adds to the evidence that allergic mechanisms may not be the only, or the most important, underlying mechanism for asthma.

56.3.2 Immunology

56.3.2.1 Allergic Asthma

Allergic asthma is caused by IgE-mediated inflammatory mechanisms in which a large number of cells play a role including mast cells, eosinophils, T lymphocytes, dendritic cells, and macrophages. Briefly, the sensitization process involves the

adaptive (or acquired) immune system whereby allergens interact with dendritic cells in the airway mucosa which migrate to the regional lymph nodes where the allergens are presented to B and T cells. This results (through T-helper-2 (Th_2) responses) in the production of allergen-specific IgE. Once allergic, a subject can develop symptoms minutes after being exposed. This is known as the early phase allergic reaction, and symptoms develop as a result of mast cell degranulation and release of inflammatory mediators through allergen IgE antibody complexes at the surface of the mast cells, causing contraction of bronchial smooth muscle and edema in the airways. Clinically, this results in a decreased lung function and symptoms of wheeze, shortness of breath, chest tightness, and coughing.

During the late phase of the allergic reaction (4 to 8 h after exposure), eosinophilrelated inflammatory reactions are particularly important. A critical step in this late phase reaction is the activation of Th_2 cells which release several proinflammatory cytokines including IL-5 resulting in the influx and activation of eosinophils. This reaction is characterized by the development of a non-specific BHR that can continue for several days. Repeated exposures can result in more permanent BHR.

56.3.2.2 Non-Allergic Asthma

As noted above, a substantial proportion of all asthma cases have an underlying pathology that is different from that observed in "classic" allergic asthma (Douwes et al. 2002a; Simpson et al. 2006). Patients may have severe and persistent asthma in the absence of eosinophilic inflammation and may experience an exacerbation of asthma without an increase in eosinophilic inflammation (Turner et al. 1995). Repeated assessments of airway inflammation over time have shown that the non-eosinophilic asthma phenotype is reproducible both in the short (4 weeks) and long term (1 to 5 years) (Simpson et al. 2006). However, the underlying mechanisms of non-eosinophilic/non-allergic asthma are not fully understood. One study in 93 non-smoking adult asthmatics found elevated sputum airway eosinophilia in 41% of all asthma cases, 20% had elevated levels of neutrophils, 8% had a mixed inflammatory profile with both cell types being elevated, and the remainder (31%) had no signs of airway inflammation with eosinophil and neutrophil levels both being within the normal range (Simpson et al. 2006). This suggests that asthma can be categorized into four inflammatory subtypes based on the sputum eosinophil and neutrophil proportions: eosinophilic asthma, neutrophilic asthma, mixed granulocytic asthma, and paucigranulocytic asthma (Simpson et al. 2006).

The common pathophysiological features of neutrophilic asthma involve an IL-8-mediated neutrophil influx, and the subsequent neutrophil activation is a potent stimulus to increased airway hyperresponsiveness (Simpson et al. 2007). Although the stimuli that trigger this response are diverse (endotoxin, ozone, particulates, virus infection), the common features are consistent with activation of innate immune mechanisms (involving Toll-like receptors and CD14) rather than IgE-mediated activation of acquired immunity.

There is also the potential for combined activation of both innate and allergenspecific inflammatory mechanisms in asthma. This may be the case in mixed granulocytic asthma and may explain the ability of ozone and NO2 to potentiate allergen-induced asthmatic responses (Jenkins et al. 1999). The pathophysiological mechanisms involved in paucigranulocytic asthma are not clear.

Clinically, the eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic phenotypes appear very similar with only small differences in lung function, airway hyperreactivity, corticosteroid use, and β_2 agonist-induced reversibility in FEV₁ (Simpson et al. 2006; Berry et al. 2007). However, there are also distinct differences: non-eosinophilic asthmatics appear to be less atopic, have normal subepithelial layer thickness, and perhaps most importantly, they have a poor short-term response to treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (Berry et al. 2007). Thus, despite clinical similarities they represent distinct pathological phenotypes.

Non-allergic occupational asthma is also very common. For instance, in many occupational environments where workers are exposed to organic dust (e.g., farmers, grain workers), the majority of asthma cases are non-IgE-mediated and are related to chronic exposure to environmental irritants. The underlying inflammatory mechanisms involve innate immune responses which are often directed against constituents of bacteria and fungi (Douwes et al. 2002a, b).

56.4 How to Measure Respiratory Allergies and Asthma in Epidemiological Studies

56.4.1 Measuring Incidence and Prevalence

Ideally, we would wish to measure incidence in epidemiological studies of asthma. However, in practice, asthma incidence is very difficult to measure, both because of the intensive long-term monitoring required and because of the difficulty of establishing the date of onset of the condition. Therefore, most studies involve prevalence rather than incidence. Similar techniques to those described in this section can be used in incidence studies, although incidence studies may involve more intensive monitoring to enable a diagnosis of asthma to be more firmly established. Asthma prevalence reflects both the incidence of asthma and the average duration of the condition. Thus, a population may have a high prevalence of asthma either due to a high exposure to factors (genetic or environmental) which induce asthma or because of high exposure to factors which incite, exacerbate, or prolong asthma symptoms in those who have previously developed the disease (Dolovich and Hargreave 1981).

56.4.1.1 Diagnosed Asthma

Although asthma can be conceptualized either in terms of symptoms such as wheezing or in terms of the underlying bronchial inflammation, the essential feature of asthma (at least in clinical and epidemiological terms) is variable airflow obstruction which can be reversed by treatment or is self-limiting (see Sect. 56.2.4). This poses several problems with the use of "diagnosed asthma" in asthma prevalence studies, since the diagnosis of "variable airflow obstruction" usually requires several medical consultations over an extended period. It is therefore not surprising that several studies have found the prevalence of physician-diagnosed asthma to be substantially lower than the prevalence of asthma symptoms. For example, Ehrlich et al. (1995), in a survey in school children in Cape Town, found that among children with more than 12 attacks of wheezing in the previous 12 months, only 60% were reported as asthmatic and only 55% as receiving regular treatment.

These problems with using "diagnosed asthma" as an outcome measure in epidemiological studies not only affect prevalence estimates but also affect time trends (Hill et al. 1989) and geographical and social patterns of asthma prevalence. For example, some studies (e.g., Peckham and Butler 1978) have found diagnosed asthma to be more common in upper social class children, possibly because of greater access to health care and therefore greater likelihood of being labeled as asthmatic. The same concerns apply, perhaps to a greater extent, in surveys of use of asthma medication or health services. Although such information may be of value in asthma morbidity studies, it is of very limited use in prevalence studies (Pearce and Beasley 1999).

These issues are of particular concern in geographical prevalence comparisons since there are major international and regional differences in access to health care and labeling of asthma. Thus, some international comparisons have found differences in diagnosed asthma to be much greater than differences in reported asthma symptoms (e.g., Pearce et al. 1993), these differences in diagnosed asthma may partially reflect differences in access to health services and diagnostic practice rather than genuine differences in asthma prevalence. For example, Dodge and Burrows (1980) suggest that "the epidemiology of asthma is a reflection of the diagnostic habits of physicians in the locale, as well as an indicator of the frequency of a specific syndrome."

Such problems of differences in diagnostic practice could be minimized by using a standardized protocol for asthma diagnosis in prevalence studies. However, this is rarely a realistic option since it requires repeated contacts between the study participants and physicians, and this is often not possible or affordable in large-scale epidemiological studies. Although self-reported histories of physician-diagnosed asthma have been found to be relatively valid, this relates to diagnosed asthma rather than true asthma prevalence.

56.4.1.2 Symptoms

Questionnaires on asthma symptoms are the cornerstone of large-scale epidemiological surveys of asthma prevalence. These have the advantage of being inexpensive and simple to administer to large numbers of participants on a single day and will discriminate those with variable airflow obstruction that causes noticeable symptoms. The key issue is that questionnaires should obtain information in a standardized manner on symptoms which are directly related to "variable airflow obstruction." This definition of asthma implies a condition in which symptoms occur from time to time, rather than the presence or absence of symptoms on a particular day. Thus, operational definitions of asthma involve specification of the time period during which symptoms may have occurred. In particular, "current symptoms" are usually defined as symptoms at any time in the previous 12 months. Although there has been concern that repeated questioning of subjects could increase awareness of respiratory symptoms, a comparison of findings from an intensive longitudinal study and a prevalence study within similar populations found very similar symptom prevalence suggesting that repeated questioning of the longitudinal study population had not biased the prevalence estimates (Sears et al. 1997).

Standard written questionnaires have been the principal instrument for measuring asthma symptom prevalence in community surveys, and in homogeneous populations these have been standardized, validated, and shown to be reproducible (Burney et al. 1989). A number of symptoms including wheezing, chest tightness, breathlessness, and coughing with or without sputum are recognized by physicians as indicative of asthma. Of these the most important symptom for the identification of asthma in epidemiological studies is wheezing, and most questionnaires have focused on this.

Symptoms may be absent despite variable airflow obstruction (asthma), and symptoms may also occur in the absence of asthma. Thus, wheezing is not synonymous with diagnosed asthma; in some instances, wheezing may indicate asthma which has not been diagnosed, but it may also indicate other diseases (particularly chronic bronchitis and emphysema in persons aged 45 years or more) or may be unrelated to other symptoms or disease; conversely, diagnosed asthmatics may not experience or recognize wheeze as a symptom. Nevertheless, wheezing remains the symptom which is most characteristic of asthma, particularly in persons aged 5 to 34 years where asthma is less likely to be confused with bronchitis or emphysema. Thus, most asthma symptom prevalence questionnaires focus on "current wheezing" (defined as wheezing at any time in the previous 12 months), but they usually also include additional questions on the frequency of wheezing and the circumstances in which wheezing occurs (wheezing while at rest, wheezing after exercise, wheezing in the absence of a cold, waking with wheezing), as well as questions on related symptoms (e.g., waking with cough or severe episodes of breathlessness).

A large number of such questions have been used in epidemiological surveys in the last decades. In particular, the questionnaires for the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS) in adults (Burney et al. 1994) and the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) (Asher et al. 1995) have now become established as the standard questionnaires for use in prevalence surveys.

One of the major problems with the use of written questionnaires in international comparisons is with their translation into the different languages of the communities studied. This is particularly problematic for language groups (e.g., German, French, Dutch) which have no colloquial term for "wheezing." To ensure that data regarding the frequency and severity of symptoms is comparable in international comparisons of asthma prevalence, it is important that the questionnaire is translated in a manner that ensures that the terms describing symptoms correspond as closely as possible to the international recommended questions.

56.4.1.3 Physiological Measures

The problems of validity, repeatability, and translation of questionnaires have led to attempts to find more "objective" physiological measures for use in prevalence studies. These measures carry with them their own set of limitations both with regard to their "objectivity" (i.e., they are not unequivocally measures of asthma prevalence) and their practicality in large population-based surveys. Nevertheless, they form a useful complement to symptom questionnaires.

Diminished lung function, besides being used as an outcome measure in prevalence studies, is also a risk factor for the development of wheezing and/or asthma (Martinez et al. 1988). Lung function measurements include forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁), forced vital capacity (FVC), and peak expiratory flow (PEF). These are all forced expiratory maneuvers undertaken following a maximum inspiratory maneuver. While maximum inspiratory and expiratory maneuvers may lead to small transient changes in airway calibre, the simplicity, standardization, and reproducibility of such maximal expiratory manoeuvres (particularly FEV₁ and FVC) make them the measurements of choice in epidemiological studies (Quanjer et al. 1993), and standardized guidelines are available (American Thoracic Society 1987).

However, such measures may have limited use in prevalence studies, since the airflow obstruction in asthma is reversible over short periods of time and may not be present on the day of assessment. Indeed, one of the characteristic features of reversible airflow obstruction in asthma is its diurnal variation, in that the degree of airflow obstruction is greatest at night or on wakening and least during the day when lung function testing is likely to be undertaken. Thus, a significant proportion of asthmatics may have lung function within normal limits on any one day, and not exhibit the 15% postbronchodilator improvement in FEV₁ or PEF values that is required for a physiological diagnosis of asthma to be made.

A better approach is to undertake repeat measurements of lung function before and after bronchodilator, at different times of the day over a period of time (e.g., two weeks); however, this is difficult and expensive in practice. It is this variation and reversibility of changes in lung function which typifies asthma, and this cannot be captured in a one-off prevalence survey on a particular day. Similarly, a oneoff clinical examination with auscultation of the chest to identify the proportion of subjects with wheeze is also of limited value.

Measurements of bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) in epidemiological studies of obstructive respiratory disease have been increasingly used in the past decades, and standard procedures are now well established (James and Ryan 1997). Bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR) testing was originally developed in a clinical setting and has conventionally been defined in terms of the dose of agonist producing a 15 or 20% fall in FEV₁. Although BHR is often defined in terms of a dichotomy (e.g., subjects are defined as having BHR if they experience a 15 or 20% fall in FEV₁ at a dose of agonist below a specified level), it can also be regarded as a continuous measure using the dose-response slope (de Meer et al. 2005).

BHR tests are neither wholly sensitive nor specific for asthma (Pekkanen and Pearce 1999), and recent results of the ISAAC Phase II study (see Sect. 56.5.3)

involving BHR testing in 6,826 school children in 16 countries showed that, although BHR and asthma symptoms were associated within individual centers, a poor correlation was found between the level of BHR and wheeze across all participating centers ($\rho = 0.23$, p=0.294) and high prevalences of BHR were not confined to centers with high prevalences of asthma symptoms (Buchele et al. 2010). The same study also showed that BHR (assessed by using hypertonic saline) was more closely associated with atopic asthma with a significant correlation between center-specific mean level of BHR and wheeze in atopic ($\rho = 0.64$, p=0.002), but not in non-atopic children ($\rho = 0.21$, p=0.35). Also, several studies have reported an absence of BHR in a substantial proportion of subjects with asthma, and BHR has also been reported in those without asthma (Josephs et al. 1990). BHR also occurs in chronic bronchitis and in tobacco smokers (Burney et al. 1987).

Perhaps the fundamental problem is that persons with non-specific BHR may have a greater tendency to experience asthma symptoms if they are exposed to the relevant stimulus in the laboratory but whether they do actually experience asthma symptoms in daily life, will depend on whether exposure occurs and at what level. Thus, the severity of airflow obstruction may be determined by the interaction of non-specific reactivity and the strength of a provoking bronchoconstrictor stimulus (Josephs et al. 1990). Furthermore, BHR is only one mechanism contributing to the clinical expression of variable airflow obstruction and may contribute to a greater or lesser extent in different individuals and within the same individual at different times (Josephs et al. 1990).

Thus, although BHR is related to asthma and may be involved in many of the pathways by which variable airflow obstruction may occur, variable airflow obstruction may occur independently of BHR, and vice versa (Pearce et al. 2000a). Also, using BHR to define asthma as has been suggested by some (Toelle et al. 1992), risks not only introducing error but will also bias the asthma sample toward one particular asthma phenotype (i.e., atopic asthma). Thus, asthma and BHR remain separate phenomena which both may involve inflammation of the airways, and which are both worthy of study in their own right.

56.4.2 Measuring Risk Factors

Asthma epidemiology studies typically involve measuring the effect of an exposure (e.g., air pollution) on a particular outcome (e.g., asthma, severe asthma, asthma hospital admission, asthma death) in a population. Strictly speaking, the term *exposure* refers to the presence of a substance (e.g., house dust mite allergen) in the external environment, whereas the term *dose* refers to the amount of substance that reaches susceptible targets within the body, such as the airways. In some situations (e.g., in a coal mine), measurements of external exposures may be strongly correlated with internal dose, whereas in other situations (e.g., indoor exposure to house dust mite allergen), the dose may depend on individual lifestyle and activities and may therefore be only weakly correlated with the environmental exposure levels. However, in this chapter we use the term "exposure" in the very

general sense to denote any attribute or agent which may increase the risk of experiencing the outcome under study. It includes demographic factors (age, sex, ethnicity, social class) and genetic factors as well as environmental risk factors (measured externally and/or internally).

The environmental exposures most commonly associated with asthma (development or exacerbation) in the general population include a wide range of bioaerosols such as non-allergenic microbial agents, including bacterial endotoxin, house dust mite, pet, and cockroach allergens, and allergenic and non-allergenic fungal agents (see Sect. 56.6.1). Also, more than 250 agents have been identified as causes of occupational asthma (see Sect. 56.6.1) with most of these being biological in origin.

Exposure levels can be assessed with regard to the *concentration* of the substance in the environment (e.g., allergen concentration in the air) and the *duration* of time for which exposure occurs. The risk of developing sensitization to an allergen may be much greater if the duration of exposure is long and/or the exposure is high, and the total *cumulative exposure* may therefore be important. However, once a person has become sensitized, then the concentration may be crucial in provoking an acute attack, and such attacks may occur after exposure of a relatively short duration. For protracted etiological processes, the time pattern of exposure may be important, and it is possible to assess this by examining the separate effects of exposures in various time windows prior to the occurrence and recognition of clinical disease (Pearce 1992). For example, several studies have found that exposure to environmental tobacco smoke in the first years of life may be as relevant as current exposures with regard to current asthma symptoms (e.g., Shaw et al. 1994). Similarly, it has been suggested that occupational asthma is most likely to occur after about 1 to 3 years of exposure to a sensitizing agent (Anto et al. 1996).

Epidemiological studies rarely have optimal exposure/dose data and often rely on relatively crude measures of exposure. The key issue is that the exposure data need not be perfect but that it must be of similar quality for the various groups being compared. Provided that this principle is followed, then any bias from misclassification of exposure will be non-differential and will tend to produce "false-negative" findings. Thus, if positive findings do occur, one can be confident that these are not due to inaccuracies in the exposure data; however, if no association (or only a weak association) is found between exposure and disease, then the possibility of non-differential information bias should be considered. In general, the aim of exposure assessment (see also chapter >Exposure Assessment of this handbook) is to (1) ensure that the exposure data is of equal quality in the groups being compared and (2) ensure that the data is of the best possible quality given the former restriction.

Methods of exposure measurement include personal interviews or selfadministered questionnaires, diaries, observation, routine records, physical or chemical measurements on the environment, or physical or chemical measurements on the person. Measurements on the person can relate either to exogenous exposure (e.g., airborne dust) or internal dose (e.g., plasma cotinine as a biomarker of tobacco smoke); the other measurement options (e.g., questionnaires) all relate to exogenous exposures. Traditionally, exposure to many non-biological risk factors (e.g., cigarette smoking) has been measured with questionnaires, and this approach has a long history of successful use in epidemiology. Questionnaires may be self-administered (e.g., postal questionnaires) or interviewer-administered (e.g., in telephone or face-toface interviews) and may be completed by the study subject or by a proxy (e.g., parental completion of questionnaires in a childhood asthma study). The validity of questionnaire data also depends on the structure, format, content, and wording of questionnaires, as well as methods of administration and selection and training of interviewers. Questionnaires may be combined with environmental exposure measurements (e.g., pollen counts, industrial hygiene surveys) to obtain a quantitative estimate of individual exposures. Questionnaires and environmental measurements have good validity and reproducibility with regard to current exposures and are likely to be superior to biological markers with respect to historical exposures (as described in the following).

Exposure can also be measured using molecular markers of internal dose. However, there are a number of major limitations of many available biomarkers of exposure (Armstrong et al. 1992), particularly with regard to historical exposures (Pearce et al. 1995) with even the best markers of exposures usually reflecting only the last few weeks or months of exposure. Thus, if the aim is to measure historical exposures, then historical information on exposure surrogates may be more valid than direct measurements of current exposure or dose levels. This situation has long been recognized in occupational epidemiology, where the use of work history records in combination with a job-exposure matrix (based on historical exposure measurements of work areas rather than individuals) is usually considered to be more valid than current exposure measurements (whether based on environmental measurements or biomarkers) if the aim is to estimate historical exposure levels (Checkoway et al. 2004). However, some biomarkers have potential value in validation of questionnaires which can then be used to estimate historical exposures. Furthermore, biomarkers of internal dose may have relatively good validity in studies involving an acute effect of exposure such as the triggering of specific asthma attacks.

A more fundamental problem of measuring internal dose with a biomarker is that it is not always clear whether one is measuring the exposure, the biological effect, or some stage of the disease process itself. Thus the findings may be uninterpretable in terms of the causal association between exposure and disease.

A further major problem with the use of biomarkers is that the resulting expense and complexity may drastically reduce the study size, even in a case-control study, and therefore greatly reduce the statistical power for detecting an association between exposure and disease.

Thus, questionnaires and environmental measurements will continue to play a major role in exposure assessment in asthma epidemiology, but biomarkers may be expected to become increasingly useful over time, as new techniques are developed. The emphasis should be on using "appropriate technology" to obtain the most practical and valid estimate of the etiologically relevant exposure. The appropriate approach (questionnaires, environmental measurements, or biological measurements) will vary from study to study and from exposure to exposure within the same study (or within the same complex chemical mixture, e.g., in tobacco smoke).

56.4.3 Measuring Causal Mechanisms

The causal mechanisms of asthma are still poorly understood. The focus, until recently, was on atopic immune responses, and epidemiological studies therefore often involved measuring atopy. With the introduction of new techniques such as exhaled NO measurements, sputum induction testing, and exhaled breath condensate measurements, epidemiologists now have a wider range of tools available allowing both atopic and non-atopic immunological mechanisms to be studied more fully in population surveys (rather than in laboratory animals as has traditionally been the case).

56.4.3.1 Atopy

Atopy (as defined above) is both an associated condition and a risk factor for developing *allergic* asthma. In the latter context, atopy can often also be considered as an intermediate factor in the causal pathway leading from allergen exposure to allergic asthma. For example, it might be considered inappropriate to control for atopy in a study of dust mite allergen exposure in infancy and asthma at age 5 years, since the development of atopic sensitization might be considered to be an intermediate stage of the causal process leading from dust mite allergen exposure to asthma symptoms. However, atopy may also modify the effect of dust mite allergen exposure, that is, non-asthmatic atopic persons may be more likely to develop asthma symptoms than non-atopic persons at the same level of dust mite exposure. Also, atopics may be more sensitive to irritant exposures causing non-allergic asthma. Thus atopy may be an intermediate factor and/or a modifier of the effects of other exposures.

A positive response to the application of a specific allergen in skin prick testing reflects the production of specific IgE antibodies to the allergen. Skin prick testing therefore provides a convenient test for atopy in epidemiological studies. Although asthma and atopy are often strongly associated, they also occur independently of each other, and "only" one half of all asthma is attributable to atopy (see Sect. 56.3.1) (Pearce et al. 1999). Serum IgE measurements are another well-accepted and widely used measure to assess atopy or atopic sensitization and have the advantage that a larger panel of allergens can be tested. However, they require venipuncture, which may reduce response proportions. Both skin prick tests and serum IgE measurements provide additional information about the potential immunological mechanisms (atopic versus non-atopic), and in case of atopic asthma, they may provide an indication of the potential causal allergen involved.

56.4.3.2 Exhaled NO

Airway inflammation is often considered a hallmark of asthma, but it is difficult to measure, particularly on the scale required for large population studies. Bronchial biopsy, bronchoalveolar lavage, and induced sputum (see below) can be used, but these methodologies are invasive (with exception of suptum induction), time-consuming, and require highly specialized staff. The measurement of the fraction of nitric oxide in exhaled air (FE_{NO}) has been increasingly recognized as a convenient and cost-effective means of non-invasively assessing atopic airway inflammation in asthma, and several instruments are now available utilizing either chemiluminescent or electrochemical NO measurement technologies.

Increased FE_{NO} has been shown to be associated with disease severity, atopy, airway eosinophilia, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in asthmatics (Alving et al. 1993; Jatakanon et al. 1998; Berry et al. 2005), and corticosteroid therapy has been shown to decrease FE_{NO} (Kharitonov et al. 1996). More recently, it has been suggested that FE_{NO} measurements can be used to optimize corticosteroid dose without negatively impacting upon asthma control (Pijnenburg et al. 2005). Although measuring FE_{NO} shows promise in the diagnosis and management of asthma, other factors not directly related to asthma such as smoking, atopy, height, and sex affect FE_{NO} levels (Kharitonov et al. 1995; Olin et al. 2006; Taylor et al. 2007; Dressel et al. 2008). Furthermore, increased FE_{NO} levels may only be associated with atopic or eosinophilic asthma, as patients with non-atopic or non-eosinophilic asthma appear to have normal FE_{NO} levels, regardless of disease severity (Porsbjerg et al. 2009). Thus, despite FE_{NO} being used in large population studies, it is a poor single diagnostic marker of asthma as has been demonstrated in community-based population studies (Travers et al. 2007). Nonetheless, FE_{NO} may be used to assess allergic or atopic airway inflammation and may therefore provide additional information on the mechanism underlying asthma.

56.4.3.3 Sputum Induction Testing and Exhaled Breath Condensate

Objective monitoring of a wide range of inflammation markers and mediators in asthmatic subjects can provide important information with regard to underlying mechanisms causing asthma symptoms. Exhaled NO (see above) measures only one aspect of airway inflammation which therefore does not provide a complete picture of the inflammatory responses underlying respiratory allergies and asthma. Initial studies on airway inflammation in asthmatics have relied upon bronchoalveolar lavage taken during bronchoscopy, but this technique is invasive and unsuitable for large-scale epidemiological studies. Sputum induction testing and exhaled breath condensate testing are methods involving non-invasive procedures that have the potential to be used in population-based studies.

Sputum induction involves subjects inhaling a 4.5% saline solution at increasing intervals typically starting at 30s to a total of up to 10 to 12 min (Gibson et al. 2000; Simpson et al. 2006). Lung function is measured in between each inhalation period and subjects given inhaled β_2 -beta agonist if their FEV₁ drops below 15 to 20% of baseline. The subjects are asked to cough up any sputum after each dose of

hypertonic saline and samples will be used to analyze cell types and inflammatory markers and mediators (e.g., IL4, IL5, IL8, ECP). These tests can be done in children from age 8 to 10 years and adults but given the laborious procedures involved the population sample size will necessarily be limited. An increasing number of population-based studies are being conducted using sputum induction testing, and these and previous studies have clearly shown that asthma consists of at least two inflammatory phenotypes (see Sect. 56.3.1). Further studies are currently in progress to assess the clinical and epidemiological importance of these findings.

Exhaled breath condensate (EBC) sampling is a technique that has been used to identify inflammatory markers and mediators in a number of respiratory conditions, including asthma, COPD, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and cystic fibrosis (Hoffmeyer et al. 2009). EBC collection involves normal tidal breathing into a tube that is cooled by ice, the breath condensing against the tube's inner surface forming a condensate which can then be poured into vials and frozen for future analysis. Breath condensate volume is mainly determined by duration of ventilation, and it takes up to 10 to 20min to obtain 1 to 3mL of condensate which is sufficient for most analyses.

Most of the condensate consists of water vapor, including a number of volatiles that may serve as markers of airway inflammation. In addition, non-volatile substances (i.e., proteins including a number of cytokines) in the lower respiratory tract can be transported in the form of aerosols in exhaled breath. Successful collection of EBC has been reported using a variety of devices including teflon-lined tubing in an ice bath and specially designed double-wall glass condenser systems (Hoffmeyer et al. 2009). EBC has been shown to contain a range of inflammatory markers and mediators, including nitric oxide, hydrogen peroxide, nitrites, eicosanoids, and various cytokines (Kharitonov and Barnes 2006; Hoffmeyer et al. 2009). The significance of breath condensate analyses is that this technique is straightforward, non-invasive, and completely safe and could be widely used in population-based surveys of asthma (including young children in whom more invasive procedures are not possible). However, EBC results have been highly variable between and within laboratories, and further validation work is therefore required before the technique can "routinely" be used in epidemiological studies of respiratory allergies and asthma (Czebe et al. 2008).

56.5 The Global Burden of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma

56.5.1 Time Trends

It has long been suspected that the prevalence of asthma has been increasing not only in industrialized countries but also in developing countries (Pearce et al. 2000b). However, this has been a particularly difficult issue to resolve because of the lack of systematic standardized studies measuring changes in asthma prevalence over time, and some reviewers have argued that the increases in reported prevalence are largely due to increased awareness, labeling and diagnosis of asthma symptoms (Magnus and Jaakkola 1997). Nevertheless, most studies, which have determined the prevalence of asthma symptoms using the same methodology in the same community at different times, have reported that asthma prevalence has increased in recent decades and that the magnitude of the increase has in some cases been substantial (Table 56.2). Although methodological differences in these studies make it difficult to compare the magnitude of the differences in asthma prevalence between countries, the trend of increasing prevalence among populations in countries of widely differing lifestyles, and ethnic groups is generally consistent.

One of the most informative studies to date is that of Haahtela et al. (1990) who analyzed the medical examination reports of approximately 900,000 conscripts to the Finnish defence forces during 1966–1989, and a proportion of those examined in 1926–1961. During 1926–1961, the prevalence of asthma recorded at call up examinations was in the range of 0.02–0.08%. However, asthma prevalence increased from 0.29% in 1966 to 1.79% in 1989. The authors concluded that the increase was unlikely to be due to improved diagnostic methods and that much of the increase was likely to be real. This conclusion was strengthened by a concomitant rise (from 0.12% in 1966 to 0.75% in 1989) in exemptions and discharges due to asthma. This study is consistent with other evidence that the increases in asthma prevalence in industrialized countries appear to have commenced after the Second World War, particularly in the 1960s and 1970s.

Thus, until recently, most studies had reported that asthma prevalence has increased in recent decades and that the magnitude of the increase had in some cases been substantial.

However, several recent studies have reported either no increase or even a decrease in asthma prevalence over the last ten years. For instance, Bollag et al. (2005) examined time trends in consultations for asthma in primary care in Switzerland and found that overall consultation rates for asthma increased from 1989 to 1994, then stabilized and have declined since 2000. The observation that asthma incidence might be falling is in agreement with several other studies that showed similar time trends for asthma and hay fever (Pearce and Douwes 2005). The best indication of what is currently happening globally is provided by the Phase III of the International Study on Asthma and Allergies in Children (ISAAC); the results of which are discussed below.

The causes of the international time trends in the prevalence of asthma are unclear and are currently a major focus for asthma epidemiology worldwide. An important component of this research process involves standardized international prevalence comparisons (Pearce et al. 1998a). The key problem is to gain information on large numbers of people in random samples collected in a comparable manner across social groups, regions, and countries. Thus, comparisons of asthma prevalence are increasingly being based on a simple comparison of symptom prevalence in a questionnaire survey in a large number of people, followed by more intensive testing of factors related to asthma (e.g., BHR) and risk factors for asthma (skin prick test positivity, serum IgE, and environmental exposures) in a subsample, and a repeat of the prevalence survey over time. This approach has been used in the international

		Asthma preva	lence	Reference
Country	Period	1st study	2nd study	
Australia	1964–1990	19.1%	46.0%	Robertson et al. (1991)
	1982–1992	10.4%	28.6%	Robertson et al. (2004)
	1992-2002	28.6%	23.7%	
	1987–1992	5.6%	9.3%	Campbell et al. (1992)
	1992-1995	9.3%	11.4%	Adams et al. (1997)
	1993-2002	27.2%	20.2%	Robertson et al. (2004)
Canada	1980–1983	3.8%	6.5%	Infante-Rivard et al. (1987)
	1980–1990 ^c	140/10,000	256/10,000 ^a	Manfreda et al. (1993)
		125/10,000	254/10,000 ^b	
England	1956–1975	1.8%	6.3%	Morrison Smith (1976)
0	1966–1990	18.3%	21.8%	Whincup et al. (1993)
	1973–1986	2.4%	3.6%	Burney et al. (1990)
	1978–1991	11.1%	12.8%	Anderson et al. (1994)
England and Wales	1970–1981	11.6%	20.5% ^a	Fleming and Crombie (1987)
e		8.8%	15.9% ^b	<u> </u>
Finland	1961–1986	0.1%	1.8%	Haahtela et al. (1990)
France	1968–1982	3.3%	5.4%	Perdrizet et al. (1987)
Germany	1991/2-1995/6	3.7%	4.1%	von Mutius et al. (1998)
Israel	1986–1990	7.9%	9.6%	Auerbach et al. (1993)
Italy	1983-1993/5	2.9%	4.4%	Ciprandi et al. (1996)
Japan	1982-1992	3.3%	4.6%	Nishima (1993)
Netherlands	1989–1993	13.4%	13.3%	Mommers et al. (2005)
	1993–1997	13.3%	11.9%	
	1997-2001	11.9%	9.1%	
New Zealand	1969–1982	7.1%	13.5%	Mitchell (1983)
	1975–1989	26.2%	34.0%	Shaw et al. (1990)
Papua New Guinea	1973–1984	0.0%	0.6%	Dowse et al. (1985)
Scotland	1964–1989	10.4%	19.8%	Ninan and Russell (1992)
	1989–1994	19.8%	25.4%	Omran and Russell (1996)
Spain	1994–2003	9.3%	9.3%	Garcia-Marcos et al. (2004)
Sweden	1971-1981	1.9%	2.8%	Aberg (1989)
	1979–1999	2.5%	5.7%	Aberg (1989)
Tahiti	1979–1984	11.5%	14.3%	Liard et al. (1988)
Taiwan	1974–1985	1.3%	5.1%	Hsieh and Shen (1991)
United Kingdom	1991–1998	33.9%	27.5%	Anderson et al. (2004)
USA	1964-1983 ^d	183/100,000	284/100,000	Yunginger et al. (1992)
	1971–1976	4.8%	7.6%	Gergen et al. (1988)
	1981–1988	3.1%	4.3%	Weitzman et al. (1992)
	1983–1992	9.2%	15.9%	Farber et al. (1997)
Wales	1973–1988	4.0%	9.0%	Burr et al. (1989)

 Table 56.2
 Changes in asthma prevalence in children and young adults

^aMen

^bWomen

^cPrevalence per 10,000 subjects ^dIncidence rates per 100,000 subjects

survey of asthma prevalence in adults (Burney et al. 1994) and in the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (Pearce et al. 1993; Asher et al. 1995; Ellwood et al. 2005).

56.5.2 The European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS)

In the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS), a representative sample of 3,000 adults in each center, aged 20 to 44 years, completed a Phase I screening questionnaire seeking information on asthma symptoms and medication use (Burney et al. 1994). Individuals answering "yes" to waking with an attack of shortness of breath, an attack of asthma, or current asthma medications were defined as "asthmatic." A random subsample of 600 subjects and an additional sample of up to 150 "asthmatic" individuals in each center were then studied in more detail in Phase II, with measurements of skin prick tests to common allergens, serum total, and specific IgE and bronchial responsiveness to inhaled methacholine, as well as an additional questionnaire on asthma symptoms and medical history, occupation and social status, smoking, the home environment, and the use of medications and medical services. The Phase I results (Burney et al. 1996) included data from 48 centers, predominantly in Western Europe, with only 9 centers from 6 countries (Algeria, Iceland, India, New Zealand, Australia, USA) being from outside of Europe. Phase II was conducted in 37 centers in 16 countries (Burney et al. 1996).

56.5.3 The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC)

The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) (Asher et al. 1995; Ellwood et al. 2005) had a similar study design compared to that of the ECRHS study, with a simple Phase I survey and a more in-depth Phase II survey. However, in order to obtain the maximum possible participation across the world, Phase I (which was conducted in 155 centers in 56 countries) was separated from Phase II (which was conducted in a smaller number of centers), and the Phase I questionnaire modules were designed to be simple and inexpensive to administer. In addition, a video presentation of clinical signs and symptoms of asthma was developed (Shaw et al. 1995) in order to minimize translation problems. The population of interest was school children aged 6 to 7 years and 13 to 14 years within specified geographical areas. The Phase I findings, involving more than 700,000 children, showed striking international differences in asthma symptom prevalence (Asher et al. 1998; Beasley et al. 1998). Figure 56.1 shows the international patterns of 12-month period prevalence of wheezing in 13 to 14-yearolds (based on the question "have you had wheezing or whistling in the chest in the last 12 months?").



Fig. 56.1 Wheeze in the previous 12 months for each center by country ordered according to the mean prevalence for all centers in the country (Source: Beasley et al. 1998)

ISAAC Phase II was conducted in 30 centers in 22 countries and involved parental questionnaires (n = 54,439), skin prick tests (n = 31,759), and serum IgE measurements (n = 8,951). House dust samples to measure indoor allergens were also collected (Weinmayr et al. 2007).

Phase III involved a repeat of the Phase I survey after 5 to 10 years in 106 centers in 56 countries in children aged 13 to 14 years (n = 304,679) and in 66 centers in 37 countries in children aged 6 to 7 years (n = 193,404) (Asher et al. 2006; Pearce et al. 2007).

56.5.4 What Do the ECRHS and ISAAC Studies Show?

The ISAAC and ECRHS studies provide, for the first time, a picture of global patterns of asthma prevalence and identify the key phenomena which future research must address and attempt to explain.

Firstly, both studies show a particularly high prevalence of reported asthma symptoms in English-speaking countries (Fig. 56.1), that is, the British Isles, New Zealand, Australia, the United States, and Canada (Burney et al. 1996; Asher et al. 1998). This appears to be unlikely to be entirely due to translation problems, since the same pattern was observed with the ISAAC video questionnaire (Asher et al. 1998).

Secondly, the ISAAC survey showed that centers in Latin America also had particularly high symptom prevalence (Fig. 56.1). This finding is of particular interest in that the Spanish-speaking centers of Latin America showed higher prevalences than Spain itself, in contrast to the general tendency for more affluent countries to have higher prevalence.

Thirdly, among the non-English-speaking European countries, both studies show high asthma prevalence in Western Europe, with lower prevalences in Eastern and Southern Europe. For example, in the ISAAC survey, there is a clear northwestsoutheast gradient within Europe, with the highest prevalence in the world being in the United Kingdom and some of the lowest prevalences in Albania and Greece (Asher et al. 1998). The west-east gradient was particularly strong; in particular, there was a significantly lower prevalence in the former East Germany than in the former West Germany.

Fourthly, Africa and Asia generally showed relatively low asthma prevalence (Fig. 56.1). In particular, prevalence was low in developing countries such as China and Indonesia, whereas more affluent Asian countries such as Singapore and Japan showed relatively high asthma prevalence. Perhaps the most striking contrast is between Hong Kong and Guangzhou which are close geographically and involve the same language and predominant ethnic group; Hong Kong (the more affluent city) had a 12-month period prevalence of wheeze of 10.1%, compared with 2.0% in Guangzhou (the less affluent city).

Fifthly, in contrast to the asthma findings, the highest prevalences of rhinitis symptoms were reported from centers scattered throughout most regions of the world, including Western Europe, Africa, North America, and Southeast Asia; the

highest prevalences of eczema were generally in centers of high latitude, including Scandinavia and New Zealand, although there were some notable exceptions including some centers in South America and Africa (Ethiopia). Thus, although the prevalences of these conditions were correlated, the association was not particularly strong, and there were numerous centers which had high prevalence for asthma but not for rhinitis and/or eczema, and vice versa, suggesting that the major risk factors are different for these related disorders or that they involve different latency periods and time trends.

Sixthly, the ISAAC Phase II study showed that the link between atopic sensitization and asthma symptoms differed strongly between populations and increased with economic development (Weinmayr et al. 2007); the association between atopy and flexural eczema was also weak and positively linked to gross national income (Flohr et al. 2008).

Finally, asthma prevalence has peaked or even begun to decline in many affluent countries, whereas asthma symptom prevalence continues to rise in less affluent countries. In particular, ISAAC Phase III showed that international differences in asthma symptom prevalence have reduced, particularly in 13- to 14-year-olds, with decreases in prevalence in English-speaking countries and Western Europe and increases in prevalence in regions where prevalence was previously low including Africa, Latin America, and parts of Asia (Fig. 56.2) (Asher et al. 2006; Pearce et al. 2007). Similarly, Phase II of the European Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS) found no further increase in current or severe asthma symptoms (Chinn et al. 2004). Nonetheless, a significant increase in diagnosed asthma was observed which most likely reflects changes in diagnostic labeling and/or medical treatment for mild and/or moderate asthma (Weiland and Pearce 2004). The asthma symptom prevalence increases in Africa, Latin America, and parts of Asia indicating that the global burden of asthma is continuing to rise, but the global prevalence differences are lessening.

56.6 Causes of Respiratory Allergies and Asthma

56.6.1 Risk Factors

56.6.1.1 Genetic Factors

Asthma is multifactorial in origin and influenced by multiple genes and environmental factors. Thus, it is not inherited in the simple Mendelian fashion that is characteristic of single-gene disorders. A particular genetic factor may affect one or more aspects of the complex etiological processes potentially involved in asthma including atopic sensitization, bronchial hyperresponsiveness (BHR), airway inflammation, innate immunity, etc. Whether this genetic potential is expressed will depend on various factors, including whether sufficient exposure to environmental factors occurs. Investigating possible genes for the individual etiological factors is also fraught with difficulties, since control of these factors (e.g., IgE production and BHR) are also multifactorial (Zamel et al. 1996).



Fig. 56.2 Ranking plot showing the change per year in prevalence of current wheeze (wheeze in the last 12 months) in 13- to 14-year-old children for each center by country, with countries ordered by their average prevalence (for all centers combined) across Phase I and Phase III [the plot also shows the confidence interval about zero change for a given level of prevalence (i.e., the average prevalence across Phase I and Phase III) given a sample size of 3,000 and no cluster-sampling effect] (Source: Pearce et al. 2007)

Also, as noted earlier, asthma is an extremely heterogeneous disease including a variety of phenotypical and clinical manifestations which are likely to be associated with different (combinations of) genes. Another potential source of phenotypic variability is that asthma development, exacerbations, and progression may involve different environmental triggers and genetic factors.

Nonetheless, it is well established that people with a family history of asthma are more likely to develop asthma themselves, and parental asthma is a stronger predictor of asthma in the offspring than parental atopy. However, this association is not necessarily due only to genetic factors but could also reflect similar lifestyles and exposures in family members (Sandford et al. 1996).

Some indication of the possible contribution of genetic factors in asthma is given by studies of twins. For example, Edfors-Lubs (1971) analyzed data on 7,000 twin pairs from the Swedish Twin Registry and found that concordance of asthma in monozygotic twins was greater than in dizygotic twins. However, the concordance was still only 19%, and even this may in part be due to similar environmental exposures in monozygotic twins, including a common intrauterine environment (Godfrey et al. 1994). Other large population studies have yielded similar findings, but this may be because these studies have determined asthma on the basis of questionnaires or hospital and pharmacy records, whereas smaller studies with more intensive diagnostic methods have generally yielded higher concordance (Sandford et al. 1996).

Recent genome-wide association studies (GWAS) including two meta-analyses (GABRIEL and EVE consortia; Moffatt et al. 2010; Ober and Yao 2011) have shown a number of loci that were consistently associated with asthma. However, these associations were relatively weak and the genetic variants very common. As a result, despite these associations being highly statistically significant, the sensitivity and specificity for identifying asthmatics based on these genetic variants was poor (Ober and Yao 2011). Also, many "asthma genes" previously indentified in candidate gene association studies (using a hypothesis-driven approach) were not replicated in these large GWAS meta-analyses. This may be because GWAS studies are not able to detect some of the rarer variants (Michel et al. 2010), or, alternatively, the previously indentified candidates may be false-positive results. Whatever the reason, it is clear that our knowledge of the genetics of asthma is currently still very limited, but future GWAS for asthma on well-defined asthma phenotypes may shed some more light on the importance of genetics in the development of asthma.

56.6.1.2 Demographic Factors

There are a variety of demographic factors which are associated with asthma including age (Anderson et al. 1992), sex (Anderson et al. 1992), and ethnicity (Pattemore et al. 2004). Age is the demographic factor which is most strongly related to asthma symptom prevalence, with symptoms usually declining at or before the onset of puberty (Kimbell-Dunn et al. 1999).

Asthma incidence and prevalence are consistently lower in females than in males before age 12 years, whereas during adolescence and adulthood there is evidence of higher incidence and prevalence in females (Kimbell-Dunn et al. 1999). One possible explanation is that the average age of onset in childhood and adolescence may be later in females. Levels of cord blood IgE are lower at birth in girls than in boys (Weeke 1992), indicating a lower risk of the subsequent development of asthma. Some authors have noted that boys have smaller airways than girls, relative to lung size, and that this may explain the greater frequency and severity of lower respiratory tract illness in boys, even though infection rates are similar for both sexes (Martinez et al. 1988). Alternatively, it is possible that boys have more exposure to factors that increase asthma incidence or duration. The relatively higher prevalence (or smaller reduction in prevalence) in females than in males after puberty could be due to hormonal influences on allergic predisposition, airway size, inflammation, and smooth muscle vascular functions (Redline and Gold 1994). Premenstrual asthma may be especially relevant to the hormonal involvement of asthma since it may not only cause asthma exacerbations but may thereby affect the frequency and duration of asthma symptoms, resulting in an increase in the prevalence of "current asthma."

Studies in the 1960s and 1970s suggested that asthma is more common in children in the higher social classes. There has been less evidence of social class differences as the diagnosis of asthma has become more widespread (Littlejohns and Macdonald 1993), even though diagnostic labeling of wheezing in adults differs by social class (Littlejohns et al. 1989). However, severe asthma appears to be more common in children in the lower social classes (Stewart et al. 2001) and in some disadvantaged ethnic groups (Pattemore et al. 2004), and low socioeconomic status is associated with hospital admissions for asthma (Watson et al. 1996) and with reduced lung function in adults. This could represent either a greater prevalence of asthma in disadvantaged groups, or increased severity due to environmental factors (e.g., environmental tobacco smoke, nutrition, occupational exposures) (Eagan et al. 2002; Ellison-Loschmann et al. 2007), or inadequate disease management and poor access to health care (Ellison-Loschmann and Pearce 2006).

56.6.1.3 Obesity

The specific mechanisms linking body weight and asthma are unclear, but several have been proposed including (1) common etiologies, (2) comorbidities, (3) mechanical factors, and (4) adipokines, that is, cytokines secreted by adipose tissue (Shore 2007). Like asthma, the prevalence of overweight and obesity has increased dramatically in the past few decades in many regions of the world (Burney 2002). Studies have shown associations between body weight and asthma in both adults (Braback et al. 2005) and children (von Mutius et al. 2001). Prospective studies of children suggest that obesity precedes asthma signaling a causal link (Gilliland et al. 2003; Gold et al. 2003), as do studies showing associations between asthma and both weight gain and weight loss in adults (Hakala et al. 2000). Nonetheless, some studies have failed to show an association (Brenner et al. 2001), while others showed an association only in one sex (Mannino et al. 2006). Several reported an association only with respiratory symptoms (e.g., wheeze), but not BHR (Bustos et al. 2005), although this may merely indicate that obesity increases asthma risk

through mechanisms other than BHR. Obesity may also increase severity in subjects with preexisting asthma (Akerman et al. 2004).

56.6.1.4 Diet

Many studies have investigated the effects of breast-feeding on allergies and asthma with some studies showing protective effects, some showing no effect, and others suggesting that breast-feeding is a risk factor (Friedman and Zeiger 2005). A recent longitudinal study found that exclusive breast-feeding was associated with a slightly reduced risk of asthma and atopy at age 7, but an increased risk at age 14 and 44 (Matheson et al. 2007). Another infant cohort study showed that breast-feeding did not protect against atopy and asthma but even increased the risk at age 9 to 26 years (Sears et al. 2002). A cluster randomized trial reported similar findings for allergies and asthma at age 6.5 years (Kramer et al. 2007).

Other nutritional factors may also play a role in the etiology of asthma. In particular, it has been speculated that the increase in asthma prevalence may be due to a change in dietary patterns in the past few decades, that is, as cultures have become more "westernized," they have shifted from a tradition of growing and consuming locally grown foods to consuming more processed foods with an overall increase in the intake of refined sugars, fats, and additives, as well as a reduction in the intake of fresh fruits, vegetables, and fish. Several observational studies have shown protective effects of fruit and vegetables, whole grain products, and fish (Devereux 2007), and these findings are consistent with an ecological analysis of the ISAAC Phase I survey (Ellwood et al. 2001). Fruit, vegetables, and wholegrain products are rich in antioxidants and may reduce airway inflammation by protecting the airways against both endogenous and exogenous oxidants (Devereux 2007). Fish oils are rich in n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids which may also protect against airway inflammation and subsequent symptoms of asthma (Devereux 2007). However, dietary supplement studies focusing on antioxidants and n-3 fatty acids have not shown convincing evidence of a protective effect on allergies and asthma (Reisman et al. 2006; Almqvist et al. 2007).

56.6.1.5 Outdoor Air Pollution

The role of outdoor air pollutants (particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide, and sulfur dioxide) in asthma and other diseases has been extensively studied and debated. An association between measures of distance to major roads or traffic density and asthma symptoms has been found in a number of European countries (WHO 2005). Also, a large number of studies have reported associations between direct measurements of air pollution levels and exacerbation of preexisting asthma, both in children and adults (Boezen et al. 1999; WHO 2005). Some studies, including a recent birth cohort study (Brauer et al. 2007), have also suggested that air pollution may cause *new onset* of asthma and allergic disease. In particular, several large prospective studies have suggested a role for ozone (McDonnell et al. 1999; McConnell et al. 2002), although significant associations with some asthma outcomes were also shown for PM2.5, soot, and NO₂ (Brauer et al. 2007). Nonetheless, although it is clear that air pollution can provoke exacerbations in

preexisting asthma and a positive association between outdoor air pollution and asthma prevalence at the population level has been shown (Asher et al. 1998), the weight of evidence does not currently support a *major* role for outdoor air pollution as a cause of the initial development of asthma.

56.6.1.6 Indoor Air Pollution

Little is currently known about the contribution of indoor air pollutants (other than environmental tobacco smoke) to the incidence and prevalence of asthma. The range of potential pollutants is large, the determinants of ambient levels involve a complex interaction of lifestyle and building factors, and precise measurement of airborne concentrations is difficult. Nitrogen dioxide from burning fossil fuels has received by far the most attention, while sulfur dioxide from burning sulfur-containing coal or gas, mosquito coil smoke, and formaldehyde from wood preparation have also been considered. Particulates from open or closed wood and coal burning fires have received less attention in developed countries but have been studied in developing countries where very high indoor levels have been encountered.

Damp indoor environments and indoor fungal exposure may also play a role as demonstrated in a large number of studies conducted across many geographical regions (Douwes and Pearce 2003). However, although it has been concluded that the evidence for a causal association between dampness and respiratory morbidity is strong, it is not clear whether indoor dampness *causes* or "only" *exacerbates* preexisting respiratory conditions such as asthma (Douwes and Pearce 2003).

56.6.1.7 Tobacco

Similarly, the evidence for a role of tobacco smoke in asthma is strongest for increases in severity in children who already have asthma, whereas the evidence for the initial occurrence of asthma (incidence) is less conclusive. In particular, several recent reviews and meta-analyses differ in their conclusions about the role of second-hand tobacco smoke (SHS). The US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and Californian EPA concluded that SHS was causally associated with the development of asthma in children (EPA 1992; OEHHA 1997). The 2006 Surgeon General's report on "health effects from involuntary exposure to tobacco smoke" (DHHS 2006) concluded that the evidence was suggestive, but not sufficient to infer a causal relationship. This analysis was based on a previous meta-analysis conducted by Strachan and Cook (1998) and did not include the most recent epidemiological studies. However, the more recent meta-analysis including studies published between 1970 and 2005 concluded that household SHS exposure was positively and consistently associated with the incidence or new onset asthma (Vork et al. 2007) not only in younger but also older children.

The evidence on active smoking as a risk factor is also conflicting with some studies reporting only exacerbations (Siroux et al. 2000), whereas others have also documented a dose-related risk of new-onset asthma in adolescents and adults (Eagan et al. 2002). Overall, it therefore appears that environmental tobacco smoke

is a cause of asthma exacerbations and that in addition it may also be involved in the development of asthma itself.

56.6.1.8 Occupational Exposures

Occupational asthma (OA) is the most common occupational respiratory disease in developed countries. For example, asthma accounted for 28% of cases reported to the United Kingdom surveillance of work-related and occupational respiratory diseases (SWORD) project (Meredith et al. 1991). Estimates of the total proportion of adult asthma which is thought to be occupational in origin range from 2 to 15% in the United States (Chan-Yeung and Malo 1994), 15% in Japan (Chan-Yeung and Malo 1994), 5% in Spain (Kogevinas et al. 1996), 2% to 3% in New Zealand (Fishwick et al. 1997), and 2% to 6% in the United Kingdom (Meredith and Nordman 1996). However, much higher estimates have also been reported. For example, a study of the entire employed population of Finland from 1986 to 1998 estimated the attributable fraction of adult-onset asthma due to occupation to be 29% for men and 17% for women (Karjalainen et al. 2001). More than 250 agents have been identified as causes of OA (Department of Health and Senior Services, State of New Jersey 2006). Some of the most common occupational asthmagens include flour/grain dusts, wood dusts, latex allergens, and isocyanates.

56.6.1.9 Respiratory Viruses

Viral infections are common causes of exacerbations of asthma (Johnston et al. 1995). In fact, respiratory viral infections are detected in the majority of asthma exacerbations (80% to 85% in children and 75% to 80% in adults); of these, about 60% are rhinoviruses (Johnston 2007). There is also a strong association between viral infections and hospital admission for asthma in both children and adults.

Viral infections may also be involved in the development of asthma, but the evidence is less clear. Several long-term longitudinal studies have shown that respiratory syncytial virus (RSV) infections increase the risk of subsequent recurrent wheezing and asthma in early childhood (Stein et al. 1999; Sigurs et al. 2005). However, this risk may progressively decrease with increasing age (Stein et al. 1999). Other viruses have also been associated with asthma development including human rhinovirus (HRV) which may in fact be a more important risk factor than RSV (Lemanske et al. 2005). The mechanisms of viral-induced asthma are poorly understood, but it has been speculated that impaired innate immune responses may play a crucial role (Johnston 2007).

56.6.1.10 Medications

Antibiotics The "hygiene hypothesis" postulates that growing up in a more hygienic environment with less microbial exposure may increase the risk of allergies and allergic asthma (see Sect. 56.6.3). A corollary of the hygiene hypothesis is that antibiotic use may increase the risk of asthma by reducing the protective effect of bacterial infections and/or disruption of the normal gut bacterial flora (Farooqi and Hopkin 1998; Mendall and Kumar 1998). However, the epidemiological evidence

of an association between exposure to antibiotics (as well as infection) and the development of asthma has been conflicting (Celedon et al. 2002; Cohet et al. 2004; Kummeling et al. 2007).

One of the first reports was that of Farooqi and Hopkin (1998) who found significant associations between treatment with oral antibiotics in the first two years of life and subsequent asthma, hay fever, and eczema at age 12 to 20 years in Oxfordshire. The association was stronger for infections treated with broad-spectrum antibiotics and increased with the number of antibiotic courses received. McKeever et al. (2002a) found that antibiotic exposure in early life was associated with an increased risk of asthma diagnosis, but the association was reduced when the data were adjusted for consulting behavior. They also reported that exposure to antibiotics in utero was associated with a dose-related increase in the child's risk of asthma, hay fever, and eczema (McKeever et al. 2002b). However, Celedon et al. (2004) found no significant association between antibiotic use in the first year of life and the subsequent development of asthma, allergic rhinitis, or eczema at age 5 years. Wjst et al. (2001) found a dose-dependent association of antibiotic use with asthma diagnosis in children aged 5 to 14 years. However, the authors suggested that their findings may be due to reverse causation.

More recently, Foliaki et al. (2009) analyzed the ISAAC Phase III data (see Sects. 56.5.3 and 56.5.4) and found that the reported use of antibiotics in the first year of life was associated with parental-reported symptoms of asthma in 6 to 7-year-old children, following adjustment for other asthma risk factors. The association was present in all major regions of the world (with the possible exception of Africa). Similar associations were observed between the use of antibiotics in the first year of life and the risk of severe asthma symptoms and "asthma ever." Weaker (but still statistically significant) associations were also observed for symptoms of rhinoconjunctivitis and eczema.

Paracetamol It has been reported that prenatal paracetamol (or acetaminophen) use during pregnancy was a risk factor for asthma, wheezing, and total IgE in the offspring at 6 to 7 years of age (Shaheen et al. 2002, 2005) which was unlikely to be confounded by unmeasured behavioral factors linked to paracetamol use (Shaheen et al. 2010). Similarly, several cross-sectional and longitudinal studies have reported that paracetamol use was associated in a dose-dependent manner with an increase in asthma in children and adults and also new-onset asthma in adults (Shaheen et al. 2000, 2008; Barr et al. 2004). Furthermore, national per capita consumption of acetaminophen was ecologically associated with the prevalence of wheeze, diagnosed asthma, and bronchial hyperresponsiveness in Western Europe (Newson et al. 2000).

In the ISAAC Phase III data (see Sects. 56.5.3 and 56.5.4), the reported use of paracetamol for fever in the first year of life was associated with an increased risk of current asthma symptoms (Beasley et al. 2008). There was a dose-dependent increased risk of current asthma symptoms. However, the association was weaker than that observed for antibiotic use in the same data set (see above; Foliaki et al. 2009), and the association reduced (from 1.77 to 1.46) when adjusted for antibiotic use and

other asthma risk factors, indicating that the elevated risk was, at least in part, due to confounding. In particular, it has been suggested that the observed association is due to confounding by indication or reverse causation (Lowe et al. 2009).

However, confounding by indication or reverse causation are unlikely to fully explain the positive associations in birth cohort studies (Shaheen et al. 2002, 2005, 2010), and longitudinal studies in adults that focused on newonset asthma (Barr et al. 2004). The underlying mechanisms are unclear, but it has been suggested that paracetamol decreases glutathione levels in the lung, which may predispose to oxidative injury, bronchospasm, and an increased Th₂ response (Shaheen et al. 2002). Interestingly the use of paracetamol has increased considerably (replacing aspirin) in the 1970s and 1980s (Varner et al. 1998) suggesting that the increased use of paracetamol may account for some of the increasing prevalence of childhood asthma.

56.6.1.11 Allergens

Indoor allergens, particularly house dust mite allergens, are perhaps the group of possible asthma risk factors that have received the greatest attention. It is well established that in sensitized asthmatics, allergen exposure can trigger asthma attacks and that prolonged exposure can lead to the prolongation and exacerbation of symptoms. However, most studies in children show only weak associations between allergen exposure and current asthma, even when the analyses are restricted to atopic patients and allergen avoidance has been accounted for (Pearce et al. 2000c). Also, secondary intervention trials have had mixed results (Gotzsche et al. 1998).

In fact, although there is good evidence for asthma exacerbations, the evidence for new onset asthma is much weaker (Pearce et al. 2000c). The key study linking allergen exposure in infancy to the subsequent development of asthma is that of Sporik et al. (1990) who followed 67 children with a family history of atopy. They found an association between dust mite allergen levels and mite sensitization and an association between exposure to more than 10ug/g in the first year of life and a history of wheezing, although this association was not statistically significant (odds ratio (OR) = 2.3, p = 0.17). There were non-significant associations of dust mite levels with "active wheezing and BHR" (p = 0.08) and with "receiving medication" (p = 0.10).

More recent longitudinal birth cohort studies have found little or no association between early dust mite allergen exposure and asthma later in childhood (Burr et al. 1993; Corver et al. 2006; Tepas et al. 2006). For example, Burr et al. (1993) conducted a longitudinal study among 453 infants in South Wales with a family history of allergic diseases. Doctor diagnosed asthma and wheezing at age 7 years was neither associated with mite allergen exposure as determined in the first 12 months nor with dust mite levels measured at 7 years of age (odds ratios were not given). Similarly, in the German Multicentre Allergy Study, levels of mite and cat allergens in early life remained strongly related to specific sensitization at age 3 to 7 years, but no dose-response relationship between allergen exposure and any measure of asthma/wheeze at 7 years of age was found (Lau et al. 2000, 2002). Dust mite allergens are therefore unlikely to play a major role in the initial development of asthma.

There are several other indoor and outdoor allergens that have been suggested to be associated with the development of asthma including cat, dog, cockroach, and *Alternaria* allergens. However, the evidence for a causal relationship is even weaker than for house dust mite allergens (Pearce et al. 2000c). In fact, several studies have even reported that having a pet early in life protects against the development of asthma (see Sect. 56.6.3).

56.6.1.12 Emotional Stress

Until the second half of the twentieth century, the predominant view was that asthma was a psychosomatic disorder in which emotional stress was the key factor in its etiology; the condition was therefore commonly referred to as "asthma nervosa" (Salter 1860). With the recognition of causal environmental exposures such as pollen (Blackley 1873) and house dust (Osler 1892) in the latter half of the nineteenth century and the increased understanding of the inflammatory mechanisms underlying asthma in the second half of the twentieth century (Holgate 2004), the notion that asthma was caused by emotional stress slowly lost support. Thus, many asthma researchers currently regard emotional stress as predominantly a consequence of the disease or as an external factor which may trigger exacerbations in those with preexisting asthma. Associations between stress/anxiety and asthma in (cross-sectional) epidemiological studies are therefore generally dismissed as examples of reverse causation. However, several prospective studies in young children and adults suggest that this assumption may not be justified (Douwes et al. 2010, 2011).

A recent birth cohort in 5,810 children aged 7.5 years showed a strong association between prenatal maternal anxiety symptoms (as an indicator of stress during fetal life) and asthma prevalence at 7.5 years (Cookson et al. 2009). Children of mothers in the highest quartile of anxiety scores were 64% more likely to have asthma compared with those in the lowest quartile (OR = 1.64, 95% confidence interval (CI) = 1.25–2.17). Postnatal anxiety was not associated with asthma when adjusted for prenatal anxiety, suggesting that the prenatal period may be particularly critical.

The effects of stress/anxiety may not be limited only to early life events. For example, a 13-year follow-up study which assessed the associations between war-related stressors and new onset asthma in 2,066 elderly (50 to 69 years) Kuwaiti civilians following the Iraqi invasion in 1990 and the subsequent 7-month occupation found a dose-response relationship with asthma incidence (assessed as a self-reported doctor diagnosis of asthma), after adjusting for potential confounders including air pollution related to burning oil fires (Wright et al. 2010). The highest stress level more than doubled the risk of new onset asthma (OR = 2.3, 95% CI = 1.3–3.9).

The mechanisms underlying the association between stress and asthma remain far from clear. Several studies have suggested that stress acts principally through altered regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and sympathetic-adrenomedullary (SAM) nervous system (Vig et al. 2006). The subsequent change in levels of neurohormones (and in particular endogenous

glucocorticoids) has considerable immunomodulatory effects, including an atopy (or Th_2)-biased response favoring allergic outcomes (von Hertzen 2002). In addition to neuroimmunomodulatory effects, it is plausible that direct neurogenic mechanisms may underlie at least part of the association between stress and asthma (Miller et al. 2009).

56.6.2 Can the Traditional Risk Factors Explain the International Patterns and Time Trends?

Although there is substantial evidence that various environmental risk factors can increase the risk of developing asthma, there is little evidence that the traditional risk factors can account for the global prevalence increases or the international prevalence patterns that have been observed. The increases in asthma prevalence cannot be due to genetic factors, since they are occurring too rapidly, and the rapidity of the increases indicates that genetic factors alone are unlikely to account for a substantial proportion of asthma cases (Douwes and Pearce 2002), although genetic susceptibility to changing environmental exposures may play an important role.

The global patterns of asthma prevalence are also inconsistent with the hypothesis that air pollution is a major risk factor for the development of asthma (Asher et al. 1998, 2006; Beasley et al. 1998). Regions such as China and Eastern Europe where there are some of the highest levels of traditional air pollution such as particulate matter and SO_2 generally have lower asthma prevalence than the countries of Western Europe, North America, Australia, and New Zealand which have lower levels of pollution. It also appears very unlikely that the international prevalence patterns can be explained by differences in smoking (Mitchell et al. 2002) or in occupational exposures.

Allergen exposure is the risk factor that has perhaps received the most attention as a possible cause of the global increases in prevalence of asthma and allergies. In particular, it has been suggested that increases in indoor allergen exposures, through changes in lifestyle such as wall-to-wall carpeting, cold water washing, greater time spent indoors watching television, etc., could account for the global increases in asthma prevalence (Sporik et al. 1990). However, the only study of English homes at two time points (1979 and 1989) did not find any change in house dust mite allergen levels (Butland et al. 1997), although marked increases have been observed in Australian studies (Peat et al. 1996).

The ISAAC (Asher et al. 1998) and ECRHS studies (Burney et al. 1996) have consistently found uniformly high levels of asthma prevalence in centers in English-speaking countries, even though there is a wide variation in house dust mite levels across these countries (Martinez 1997). In geographical areas in which dust mite exposure is very low or absent, including desert regions and mountainous regions, the prevalence of asthma is as high or even higher than that in other areas where house dust mite exposure is high (Martinez 1997).

Other available evidence on the association between allergen exposure and the subsequent risk of asthma at the population level is also less than persuasive. For example, Leung et al. (1997) reported that asthma prevalence was high in



Fig. 56.3 Mean Der p 1 levels and prevalence (%) of house dust mite atopy, total atopy, and asthma in six areas of Australia

Hong Kong (6.6% for asthma ever) and low in San Bu, China (1.6%), but exposures to house dust mite allergen were similar in Hong Kong and San Bu. Similarly, Fig. 56.3 shows data from seven Australian surveys in centers with widely differing levels of mite allergen exposure; the overall prevalences of sensitization and asthma were both unrelated to the levels of house dust mite allergen (Der p 1) exposure in the six centers. The dominant allergen varied between regions, but there was little overall difference in the prevalence of sensitization or of asthma despite the major differences in mite allergen levels. Similarly, von Mutius et al. (1994) found that asthma was significantly higher in Munich, West Germany (5.9%) than in Leipzig, East Germany (3.9%), and this paralleled the pattern of skin prick test positivity (19.2% and 7.3%). However, house dust mite allergen levels were similar in the east and the west (Hirsch et al. 1998).

The other asthma risk factors (e.g., diet, obesity, paracetamol, emotional stress) may significantly contribute to the observed time trends and international patterns of asthma prevalence, but there is little evidence for this currently.

56.6.3 Protective Factors

Recent research has shifted attention from allergens that may cause sensitization and/or provoke asthma attacks, to factors that may "program" the initial susceptibility to asthma, through allergic or non-allergic mechanisms. This also in part involves a shift of attention from risk factors for asthma to protective factors and the possible role of the loss of protective factors in the global increases in asthma prevalence.

56.6.3.1 The Hygiene Hypothesis

The "hygiene hypothesis" postulates that growing up in a more microbiologically hygienic environment may increase the risk of developing respiratory allergies and has been prompted by evidence that overcrowding and unhygienic conditions were associated with a lower prevalence of atopy, eczema, hay fever, and asthma (Strachan 1989). Having a large number of siblings (especially older siblings) and attendance at day care centers were determined to be particularly protective (Ball et al. 2000). An increase in infections has been proposed as an explanation for these findings and several studies have in fact shown a direct association between infections (e.g., Hepatitis A, measles) or immunization with BCG (Bacillus Calmette-Guérin) against tuberculosis and a lower prevalence of atopy and allergies (Shaheen et al. 1996; Matricardi et al. 1997). However, the results for airborne viruses (measles, mumps, rubella, and chickenpox) and BCG vaccination were inconsistent (Alm et al. 1998; Matricardi et al. 2000).

Exposure to specific microbial agents with strong proinflammatory properties, such as bacterial endotoxin, has also been suggested to be protective (Douwes et al. 2002a). Studies in both rural and non-rural environments have reported a significant inverse association between indoor endotoxin levels and atopic sensitization (Gehring et al. 2001), hay fever, and atopic asthma (Braun-Fahrlander et al. 2002). In contrast, a birth cohort study conducted by the same researchers found that early endotoxin exposure was associated with an *increased* risk of atopy at the age of 2 years (Bolte et al. 2003). However, two similar birth cohort studies found a protective effect on atopy in 2-year-olds (Bottcher et al. 2003) and asthma symptoms in 4-year-olds (Douwes et al. 2006).

Thus, the evidence is currently mixed as to whether endotoxin exposures may protect against atopy and allergic asthma. If there is a causal association, most of the evidence points toward endotoxin, but other pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) may be equally (or more) important. There is evidence that exposure to peptidoglycans, CpG-containing DNA, and certain viruses may also reduce the risk of atopic disease (Douwes et al. 2004). The evidence for these PAMPs is, however, scarce.

Although the specific immune mechanisms are not clear, it is believed that microbial exposure may affect T lymphocytes which have an important function in controlling immune responses, including help for B cell production of antibodies (IgE, IgG, IgA, IgM). T-helper-2 (Th₂) cells stimulate B cells to produce IgE upon allergen stimulation, whereas T-helper-1 cells (Th₁) inhibit this process. The initial interpretation was that growing up in a more hygienic environment with less microbial exposure may enhance atopic (Th_2) immune responses, whereas microbial pressure would drive the response of the immune system – which is known to be skewed in an atopic Th_2 direction during fetal and perinatal life – into a Th_1 direction and away from its tendency to develop atopic immune responses. More recently, an alternative interpretation has been offered which involves inadequate immunoregulation by T regulatory cells wich control both Th₁ and Th₂ immune responses. Active regulation through T regulatory cells is believed to be critical in maintaining tolerance to allergens through a balanced Th₁/Th₂ immune response. The hypothesis is that a lack of microbial exposure may result in reduced immune suppression of T regulatory cells allowing upregulation of both Th1 and Th2 immunity, thus rendering subjects more susceptible to developing allergies (as well as Th₁

conditions including autoimmune disease which has also increased in prevalence in the past few decades). However, the immunological mechanisms underlying the observed epidemiological associations remain largely unclear (Romagnani 2004).

56.6.3.2 Animal Contact

Several studies have shown that the presence of pets in the home early in life is inversely associated with atopy in children (Hesselmar et al. 1999). Other studies have also shown a protective effect of pet ownership and asthma, for example, de Meer et al. (2004b) showed that having had a cat before the age of 18 protected against atopy to outdoor allergens, airway hyperreactivity, current wheeze, and current asthma. These results should, however, be interpreted with caution, since avoidance behavior (removal of pets in the families with sensitized and/or symptomatic children) may have contributed to this inverse association. However, in a longitudinal study in which subjects with childhood asthma at enrolment were excluded from the analyses, the protective effects actually increased (de Meer et al. 2004b), whereas a decrease would be expected if selective avoidance was a major issue. There are also studies that have found no association, or a positive association, between pet exposure and asthma, despite showing an inverse association with atopy (Apelberg et al. 2001; Kerkhof et al. 2009). In other parts of the world (Guinea-Bissau and Nepal), it has been shown that pigs and cattle in the home are associated with less atopy (Shaheen et al. 1996; Melsom et al. 2001). Thus, although the evidence for a protective effect on atopy is reasonably consistent, currently, it is unclear whether pets can also protect against asthma.

At present it is not clear which specific exposures and immunological mechanisms underlie the observed protective effects on atopy of animal contact, but increased microbial exposure may play a role, which would be consistent with the hygiene hypothesis (see above).

56.6.3.3 Farming

A number of studies have found consistently low prevalences of allergies and asthma in farmers' children, both in high-income countries such as Canada, the US, Australia, New Zealand, and Europe (Braun-Fahrlander et al. 1999; Ernst and Cormier 2000; Riedler et al. 2000, 2001; von Ehrenstein et al. 2000; Downs et al. 2001; Klintberg et al. 2001; Horak et al. 2002; Remes et al. 2002, 2003; Wickens et al. 2002; Chrischilles et al. 2004; Alfven et al. 2006; Dimich-Ward et al. 2006; Perkin and Strachan 2006; Midodzi et al. 2007; Douwes et al. 2008), and in low-income countries including Mongolia and Southern Africa (Weinberg 2000; Viinanen et al. 2007). These protective effects for allergies and asthma have also been observed in adult farmers (Leynaert et al. 2001; Kauffmann et al. 2002; Kilpelainen et al. 2002; Portengen et al. 2002, 2005; Braback et al. 2004; Eduard et al. 2004a, b; Koskela et al. 2005; Radon et al. 2006; Chen et al. 2007; Douwes et al. 2007; Smit et al. 2007, 2008) despite the increased risks of other respiratory conditions such as COPD, reduced lung function, and farmers' lung (Schenker et al. 1998). The fact that similar effects are found in low-income countries

(Weinberg 2000; Viinanen et al. 2007), where people have less opportunity to move away from farming because of allergies and asthma, further suggests that selection effects are unlikely to explain the often substantial lower risk in farming communities (Douwes et al. 2009).

The observed protective effects of farming on allergies and asthma have been particularly strong for animal contact (Riedler et al. 2000; von Ehrenstein et al. 2000; Downs et al. 2001; Remes et al. 2002, 2003; Douwes et al. 2008). Farm animals are associated with high exposures to microorganisms, in particular bacterial endotoxin (Douwes et al. 2002b). Also, an upregulation of several innate immune receptors specific for microbial products (TLRs and CD14) has been shown in farmers' children (Ege et al. 2006) suggesting that microorganisms and microbial products may be involved. In fact, a recent study showed that exposure to a wide variety of environmental microorganisms as well as exposures to specific fungal and bacterial species explained a substantial fraction of the inverse association between farm upbringing and asthma (Ege et al. 2011). Exposures early in life including the prenatal period appear particularly protective, although continued exposure may be required to maintain optimal protection (Douwes et al. 2007).

Consumption of unpasteurized farm milk in farmers' and non-farmers' children has also been shown to be protective in several of the farmers studies (Riedler et al. 2000; Barnes et al. 2001; Wickens et al. 2002; Perkin and Strachan 2006; Waser et al. 2007). The etiological mechanisms are unclear, but probiotic bacteria or other currently unidentified non-microbial components in farm milk may play a role. Evidence from other populations with anthroposophic lifestyles which are characterized by (among other things) diets rich in (probiotic) microbes (Alm et al. 1999) suggests that this protective effect may not be limited only to the farming environment, although the findings of these studies have not always been consistent (Alfven et al. 2006). These observations are also consistent with the hygiene hypothesis.

56.6.4 Can Protective Factors Explain the International Patterns and Time Trends?

As noted above, the hygiene hypothesis, if it is correct, would explain an increase in atopic/allergic asthma. However, since about one-half of asthma cases involve non-atopic/allergic mechanisms (Pearce et al. 1999), it is questionable whether the hygiene hypothesis on its own can explain the large increases observed over the last decades or the global prevalence patterns, particularly since there is some evidence that non-atopic asthma may have increased more than atopic asthma (Thomsen et al. 2004). Also, although housing conditions are unlikely to have become more hygienic in United States inner city populations, asthma prevalence has increased significantly in those populations, particularly among African Americans living in poverty (Crater et al. 2001). Finally, the hygiene hypothesis is unlikely to explain why asthma prevalence is now apparently falling in affluent countries, as exposures to factors that have previously been identified as being "protective" (family size, endotoxin exposure, infectious diseases, pets) are likely to have decreased in more recent times rather than increased. These findings thus further emphasize the potential limitations of the current hygiene hypothesis (Douwes and Pearce 2008). Nevertheless, whatever mechanism is involved, it is becoming increasingly clear that the "package" of changes associated with westernization may be contributing to the global increases in asthma susceptibility and prevalence.

56.7 The Role of Epidemiology in Respiratory Allergy and Asthma Research

In this final section, we will make some more general observations on the role of epidemiology in respiratory allergy and asthma research. Until fairly recently and with some notable exceptions, most asthma epidemiology was done by clinicians rather than professional epidemiologists, and epidemiology was largely regarded as a means of "confirming" clinically based observations and theories (e.g., that allergens can cause asthma exacerbations and therefore "must" also cause asthma itself) (Pearce and Douwes 2009). The field was perhaps comparable to the situation in cardiovascular disease and cancer in the 1950s. For these diseases, the first epidemiological step in exploring the etiology of these conditions involved descriptive epidemiology ("person, place, and time"), particularly international prevalence or incidence comparisons such as the MONICA project (Tuomilehto et al. 1987) and Cancer Incidence in Five Continents (Doll et al. 1966). These naturally led to the development of hypotheses as to the possible explanations for the observed global patterns, which were investigated in analytical studies (cohort and case-control studies), eventually evolving into more complex studies involving the use of biomarkers and genetic testing.

Because asthma epidemiology has arrived on the scene relatively late, there has been a natural tendency to jump straight into the use of relatively high-tech methods (e.g., BHR testing, atopy testing, IgE, airway eosinophil measurements, and more recently, genetic testing) focusing on very specific etiological mechanisms (e.g., TH₁/TH₂, eosinophilia), without the "reality check" which large-scale population comparisons provide. As a result, we have developed theories of asthma etiology (e.g., the TH₁/TH₂ theory, and the associated "hygiene hypothesis") which work well in mice, but do not seem to work so well in Latin America or inner city populations in the US (see Sect. 56.6.4) (Pearce and Douwes 2006). In the last couple of decades, epidemiology has played the major role in rectifying this situation, for example, by mounting standardized international prevalence surveys to provide global asthma maps, and other population comparisons (see Sect. 56.5), as a starting point for the more careful and appropriate development of theories of asthma etiology which not only work in the laboratory but which have the potential to explain what is happening in the population context. Of course, such population comparisons are not the solution by themselves, but they are an essential first step in the process of identifying and understanding the causes and etiology of asthma.

Much of the confusion that has permeated asthma epidemiology has simply reflected confusion about what asthma is and how it should be defined. Ironically, most clinicians have little problem diagnosing and treating asthma, which is regarded simply as "variable airways obstruction" (e.g., "asthma is a disease characterized by wide variation over short periods of time in resistance to flow in the airways of the lung" (American Thoracic Society Committee on Diagnostic Standards 1962)) - a condition that is easily diagnosed on the basis of a clinical symptom history, perhaps supplemented by serial measurements of lung function (Pearce et al. 1998a). Despite some major therapeutic disasters (Pearce et al. 1998b), symptoms are relatively easy to control (at least for the eosinophilic phenotype; see Sect. 56.3.1). However, there has not been the same clarity in understanding the etiological mechanisms by which variable airways obstruction occurs, or in the methods used for measuring asthma in prevalence studies (Pekkanen and Pearce 1999). Epidemiology can make an important contribution in the development of a better understanding of the etiology of asthma and whether it constitutes several different conditions or a single condition. This in turn will help to redefine the best methods of defining asthma in clinical practice and in epidemiological surveys.

56.7.1 The Future of Allergy and Asthma Epidemiology

Although epidemiological research may not have yielded a target for asthma intervention (yet), it has made a major contribution in changing the focus from risk factors to protective factors and identifying populations with a "naturally" low prevalence of allergies and asthma. These observations provide interesting new avenues of research with a high likelihood of identifying novel targets for prevention and treatment.

So where could innovative new theories of the etiology of asthma come from? Global prevalence (and if possible, incidence) comparisons can play a major role in this process (Pearce 1999) as has been successfully demonstrated in asthma studies such as ISAAC (Asher et al. 1995) and ECRHS (Burney et al. 1994), but, clearly, they are just part of a larger scientific process, and these sorts of initiatives are now well established for many non-communicable diseases such as cancer (Doll et al. 1966) and coronary heart disease (WHO MONICA Project Principal Investigators 1988).

Perhaps the most promising new direction is the development of truly interdisciplinary research that integrates the usually separate worlds of epidemiology, social science and biomedical, and clinical research. Traditionally, these disciplines have been conducting research in relative isolation, a situation which has distinct disadvantages. In particular, (i) many animal models of disease are only partially applicable to human populations; (ii) clinical studies are generally not well equipped to determine the causal exposures of primary causation; and (iii) epidemiological studies often do not fully acknowledge the complexity of the biological responses involved.

Mice do not get asthma, and even after manipulation to produce an "asthma model," they do not exhibit the pathophysiology that is consistent with asthma in humans (Wenzel and Holgate 2006). Thus, although we have learnt a great deal about immunology in mice in the past few decades, these mouse models have provided only limited understanding of the underlying immunological mechanisms of human asthma. Nonetheless, most biomedical research on asthma continues to be conducted in mice. Similarly, the overemphasis of allergen exposure as the "causal" factor of asthma, as well as the lack of appreciation of the heterogeneity of asthma in many epidemiological studies, has guided biomedical and clinical research into studying (almost exclusively) allergic mechanisms and allergy-specific treatment options, with very little consideration of other potentially relevant mechanisms. In particular, there are now several studies suggesting that corticosteroid treatment is less or non-effective in asthma phenotypes that do not involve allergic mechanisms and subsequent non-eosinophilic airway inflammation (Berry et al. 2007), despite these phenotypes being very common (Douwes et al. 2002a; Simpson et al. 2007). Also, studies of asthma genetics continue to be based on populations of mixed phenotypes limiting the potential to find meaningful results. This "tunnel vision" has led to assumptions that findings in Western countries can be extrapolated to the rest of the world, and it has taken international collaborations such as the ISAAC study, to show that, for example, the strong associations between atopy and asthma symptoms that have been repeatedly observed in Western countries are not so evident in low- and middle-income countries (Weinmayr et al. 2007). Thus, considering the complex interplay between environmental exposures, genetic susceptibility, immunological mechanisms, as well as social and cultural factors involved in asthma development - and indeed most non-communicable diseases - an interdisciplinary approach bringing together expertise from each of these disciplines is most desirable, as it is likely to open up new avenues of cutting edge research, yielding greater explanatory power, more efficient use of research funding, and more efficient translation into disease prevention. Also, a closer link with biomedical research will ensure the development of more sensitive and valid methods that can be widely applied in population studies to improve both disease definition (including the assessment and recognition of disease phenotypes) and relevant exposures.

Epidemiologists have a major role to play in coordinating, integrating, and expanding these efforts, and that the "population perspective" (Pearce 1996, 1999) provides a valid reference point and "reality check" for such interdisciplinary work. However, although epidemiology is well placed to take the lead in developing interdisciplinary research, we also see a role for more "traditional" epidemiology. In particular, epidemiology has a strong tradition of generating new hypotheses or refuting old dogmas. Studies such as ISAAC (see Sect. 56.5.3) are an excellent example where the use of a one-page questionnaire conducted in more than one million children worldwide has made a major impact on how we think about asthma etiology (Enarson 2005).

56.8 Conclusions

Despite decades of intensive biomedical and epidemiological research, the etiology and pathogenesis of asthma is still poorly understood. In particular, a large number of potential risk factors for asthma have been identified including genetic factors, allergen exposure, demographic parameters, diet, obesity, indoor and outdoor pollution, passive and active tobacco smoking, occupational exposures, viral infections, stress/anxiety, and the use of paracetamol (acetaminophen). However, none of these risk factors on their own appears to explain the substantial global increases in asthma prevalence observed in the last few decades. They also cannot explain the significant differences in asthma prevalence between countries. Recent studies have shown that the increase in asthma prevalence appears to have leveled off in many high-income countries, with some even showing a decrease. The reasons for this are also unclear. As a consequence, a single target for intervention has not (yet) been identified.

Understanding why these changes in prevalence are occurring, and ascertaining which elements of the "package" of twentieth century economic development and lifestyle changes are responsible, is essential in order to develop effective intervention programs to halt the current global asthma epidemic. Recent epidemiological studies have provided innovative theories of the etiology of asthma, such as the hygiene hypothesis, which have considerable potential to guide the development of feasible primary (and secondary) prevention options. However, given the complex gene-environment interactions (Vercelli 2009) and diverse asthma phenotypes (Douwes et al. 2002a), any single type of intervention is unlikely to prevent all or even a substantial proportion of asthma cases - a "one size fits all" approach is unlikely to work. Epidemiology (alongside other disciplines) has a major role to play in developing new theories regarding asthma causation and the subsequent development and evaluation of effective prevention strategies. However, for these efforts to be maximally effective, they would need to be part of a multidisciplinary program that includes expertise (in addition to epidemiology) in biomedical, clinical, genetic, psychological, and other disciplines.

Acknowledgements The Centre for Public Health Research is supported by a Programme Grant from the Health Research Council (HRC) of New Zealand.

References

Aberg N (1989) Asthma and allergic rhinitis in Swedish conscripts. Clin Exp Allergy 19:59–63

- Adams R, Ruffin R, Wakefield M, Campbell D, Smith B (1997) Asthma prevalence, morbidity and management practices in South Australia, 1992–1995. Aust N Z J Med 27:672–679
- Aggarwal AN, Gupta D, Jindal SK (2006) The relationship between FEV1 and peak expiratory flow in patients with airways obstruction is poor. Chest 130:1454–1461
- Akerman MJ, Calacanis CM, Madsen MK (2004) Relationship between asthma severity and obesity. J Asthma 41:521–526
- Alfven T, Braun-Fahrlander C, Brunekreef B, von Mutius E, Riedler J, Scheynius A, van Hage M, Wickman M, Benz MR, Budde J, Michels KB, Schram D, Ublagger E, Waser M,

Pershagen G (2006) Allergic diseases and atopic sensitization in children related to farming and anthroposophic lifestyle – the PARSIFAL study. Allergy 61:414–421

- Alm JS, Lilja G, Pershagen G, Scheynius A (1998) BCG vaccination does not seem to prevent atopy in children with atopic heredity. Allergy 53:537
- Alm JS, Swartz J, Lilja G, Scheynius A, Pershagen G (1999) Atopy in children of families with an anthroposophic lifestyle. Lancet 353:1485–1488
- Almqvist C, Garden F, Xuan W, Mihrshahi S, Leeder SR, Oddy W, Webb K, Marks GB (2007) Omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid exposure from early life does not affect atopy and asthma at age 5 years. J Allergy Clin Immunol 119:1438–1444
- Alving K, Weitzberg E, Lundberg JM (1993) Increased amount of nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatics. Eur Respir J 6:1368–1370
- American Lung Association (2010) Trends in asthma morbidity and mortality. http://www.lungusa. org. Accessed 27 Aug 2011
- American Thoracic Society (1987) Standardization of spirometry 1987 update. Statement of the American Thoracic Society. Am Rev Respir Dis 136:1285–1298
- American Thoracic Society Committee on Diagnostic Standards (1962) Definitions and classification of chronic bronchitis, asthma and pulmonary emphysema. Am Rev Resp Dis 85:762–768
- Anderson HR, Pottier AC, Strachan DP (1992) Asthma from birth to age 23 incidence and relation to prior and concurrent atopic disease. Thorax 47:537–542
- Anderson HR, Butland BK, Strachan DP (1994) Trends in prevalence and severity of childhood asthma. BMJ 308:1600–1604
- Anderson HR, Ruggles R, Strachan DB, Austin JB, Burr M, Jeffs D, Standring P, Steriu A, Goulding R (2004) Trends in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, hay fever, and eczema in 12–14 year olds in the British Isles, 1995–2002: questionnaire survey. BMJ 328:1052–1053
- Anto JM, Sunyer J, Newman Taylor AJ (1996) Comparison of soybean epidemic asthma and occupational asthma. Thorax 51:743–749
- Apelberg BJ, Aoki Y, Jaakkola JJ (2001) Systematic review: exposure to pets and risk of asthma and asthma-like symptoms. J Allergy Clin Immunol 107:455–460
- Armstrong BK, White E, Saracci R (1992) Principles of exposure measurements in epidemiology. Oxford University Press, New York
- Asher MI, Keil U, Anderson HR, Beasley R, Crane J, Martinez F, Mitchell EA, Pearce N, Sibbald B, Stewart AW (1995) International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC): rationale and methods. Eur Respir J 8:483–491
- Asher MI, Anderson HR, Stewart AW, Crane J, Ait-Khaled N, Anabwani G, Anderson HR, Beasley R, Björkstén B, Burr ML, Clayton TO, Crane J, Ellwood P, Keil U, Lai CKW, Mallol J, Martinez FD, Mitchell EA, Montefort S, Pearce N, Robertson CF, Shah JR, Sibbald B, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, Williams HC (1998) Worldwide variations in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Eur Respir J 12:315–335
- Asher MI, Montefort S, Bjorksten B, Lai CKW, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, Williams H (2006) Worldwide time trends in the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in childhood: ISAAC Phases One and Three repeat multicountry cross-sectional surveys. Lancet 368:733–743
- Auerbach I, Springer C, Godfrey S (1993) Total population survey of the frequency and severity of asthma in 17 year old boys in an urban area in Israel. Thorax 48:139–141
- Ball TM, Castro-Rodriguez JA, Griffith KA, Holberg CJ, Martinez FD, Wright AL (2000) Siblings, day-care attendance, and the risk of asthma and wheezing during childhood. N Engl J Med 343:538–543
- Barnes M, Cullinan P, Athanasaki P, MacNeill S, Hole AM, Harris J, Kalogeraki S, Chatzinikolaou M, Drakonakis N, Bibaki-Liakou V, Taylor AJN, Bibakis I (2001) Crete: does farming explain urban-rural differences in atopy? Clin Exp Allergy 31:1822–1828
- Barr RG, Wentowski CC, Curhan GC, Somers SC, Stampfer MJ, Schwartz J, Speizer FE, Camargo CA Jr (2004) Prospective study of acetaminophen use and newly diagnosed asthma among women. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 169:836–841

- Beasley R, Keil U, von Mutius E, Pearce N, Ait-Khaled N, Anabwani G, Anderson HR, Asher MI, Björkstén B, Burr ML, Clayton TO, Crane J, Ellwood P, Lai CKW, Mallo LJ, Martinez FD, Mitchell EA, Montefort S, Robertson CF, Shah JR, Sibbald B, Stewart AW, Strachan DP, Weiland SK, Williams HC (1998) Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis and atopic eczema: ISAAC. Lancet 351:1225–1232
- Beasley R, Clayton T, Crane J, von Mutius E, Lai CK, Montefort S, Stewart A (2008) Association between paracetamol use in infancy and childhood, and risk of asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in children aged 6–7 years: analysis from Phase Three of the ISAAC programme. Lancet 372:1039–1048
- Berry MA, Shaw DE, Green RH, Brightling C, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID (2005) The use of exhaled nitric oxide concentration to identify eosinophilic airway inflammation: an observational study in adults with asthma. Clin Exp Allergy 35:1175–1179
- Berry MA, Morgan A, Shaw DE, Parker D, Green R, Brightling C, Bradding P, Wardlaw AJ, Pavord ID (2007) Pathological features and inhaled corticosteroid response of eosinophilic and non-eosinophilic asthma. Thorax 62:1043–1049
- Bjerg A, Sandström T, Lundbäck B, Rönmark E (2010) Time trends in asthma and wheeze in Swedish children 1996–2006: prevalence and risk factors by sex. Allergy 65:48–55
- Blackley C (1873) Experimental research in the causes and nature of catarrhus aestivus (hay fever or hay asthma). Baillière Tindall and Cox, London
- Boezen HM, van der Zee SC, Postma DS, Vonk JM, Gerritsen J, Hoek G, Brunekreef B, Rijcken B, Schouten JP (1999) Effects of ambient air pollution on upper and lower respiratory symptoms and peak expiratory flow in children. Lancet 353:874–878
- Bollag U, Capkun G, Caesar J, Low N (2005) Trends in primary care consultations for asthma in Switzerland, 1989–2002. Int J Epidemiol 34:1012–1018
- Bolte G, Bischof W, Borte M, Lehmann I, Wichmann HE, Heinrich J (2003) Early endotoxin exposure and atopy development in infants: results of a birth cohort study. Clin Exp Allergy 33:770–776
- Bottcher MF, Bjorksten B, Gustafson S, Voor T, Jenmalm MC (2003) Endotoxin levels in Estonian and Swedish house dust and atopy in infancy. Clin Exp Allergy 33:295–300
- Braback L, Hjern A, Rasmussen F (2004) Trends in asthma, allergic rhinitis and eczema among Swedish conscripts from farming and non-farming environments. A nationwide study over three decades. Clin Exp Allergy 34:38–43
- Braback L, Hjern A, Rasmussen F (2005) Body mass index, asthma and allergic rhinoconjunctivitis in Swedish conscripts - a national cohort study over three decades. Respir Med 99:1010–1014
- Brauer M, Hoek G, Smit HA, de Jongste JC, Gerritsen J, Postma DS, Kerkhof M, Brunekreef B (2007) Air pollution and development of asthma, allergy and infections in a birth cohort. Eur Respir J 29:879–888
- Braun-Fahrlander C, Gassner M, Grize L, Neu U, Sennhauser FH, Varonier HS, Vuille JC, Wuthrich B (1999) Prevalence of hay fever and allergic sensitization in farmer's children and their peers living in the same rural community. Clin Exp Allergy 29:28–34
- Braun-Fahrlander C, Riedler J, Herz U, Eder W, Waser M, Grize L, Maisch S, Carr D, Gerlach F, Bufe A, Lauener RP, Schierl R, Renz H, Nowak D, von Mutius E (2002) Environmental exposure to endotoxin and its relation to asthma in school-age children. N Engl J Med 347: 869–877
- Brenner JS, Kelly CS, Wenger AD, Brich SM, Morrow AL (2001) Asthma and obesity in adolescents: is there an association? J Asthma 38:509–515
- Buchele G, Genuneit J, Weinmayr G, Bjorksten B, Gehring U, von Mutius E, Priftanji A, Stein RT, Addo-Yobo EO, Priftis KN, Shah JR, Forastiere F, Svabe V, Crane J, Nystad W, Garcia-Marcos L, Saraclar Y, El-Sharif N, Strachan DP (2010) International variations in bronchial responsiveness in children: findings from ISAAC phase two. Pediatr Pulmonol 45:796–806
- Burney P (2002) The changing prevalence of asthma? Thorax 57(Suppl 2):II36–II39
- Burney PG, Britton JR, Chinn S, Tattersfield AE, Papacosta AO, Kelson MC, Anderson F, Corfield DR (1987) Descriptive epidemiology of bronchial reactivity in an adult population: results from a community study. Thorax 42:38–44

- Burney PG, Laitinen LA, Perdrizet S, Huckauf H, Tattersfield AE, Chinn S, Poisson N, Heeren A, Britton JR, Jones T (1989) Validity and repeatability of the IUATLD (1984) Bronchial Symptoms Questionnaire: an international comparison. Eur Respir J 2:940–945
- Burney P, Chinn S, Rona RJ (1990) Has the prevalence of asthma increased in children? Evidence from a national study of health and growth 1973–86. BMJ 300:1306–1310
- Burney PG, Luczynska C, Chinn S, Jarvis D (1994) The European Community Respiratory Health Survey. Eur Respir J 7:954–960
- Burney P, Chinn S, Luczynska C, Jarvis D, Vermeire P, Bousquet J, Nowak D, Prichard J, deMarco R, Rijcken B, Anto J, Alves J, Boman G, Kesteloot H, Nielsen N, Paoletti P (1996) Variations in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms, self-reported asthma attacks, and use of asthma medication in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey (ECRHS). Eur Respir J 9:687–695
- Burr ML, Butland BK, King S, Vaughan-Williams E (1989) Changes in asthma prevalence: two surveys 15 years apart. Arch Dis Child 64:1452–1456
- Burr ML, Limb ES, Maguire MJ, Amarah L, Eldridge BA, Layzell JCM, Merrett TG (1993) Infantfeeding, wheezing, and allergy – a prospective-study. Arch Dis Childhood 68:724–728
- Bustos P, Amigo H, Oyarzun M, Rona RJ (2005) Is there a causal relation between obesity and asthma? Evidence from Chile. Int J Obes 29:804–809
- Butland BK, Strachan DP, Anderson HR (1997) The home environment and asthma symptoms in childhood: two population based case-control studies 13 years apart. Thorax 52:618–624
- Campbell D, Ruffin R, Mcevoy R, Crockett A (1992) South Australian asthma prevalence survey. Aust NZ Med J 22:A658 (abstract)
- Celedon JC, Litonjua AA, Ryan L, Weiss ST, Gold DR (2002) Lack of association between antibiotic use in the first year of life and asthma, allergic rhinitis, or eczema at age 5 years. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:72–75
- Celedon JC, Fuhlbrigge A, Rifas-Shiman S, Weiss ST, Finkelstein JA (2004) Antibiotic use in the first year of life and asthma in early childhood. Clin Exp Allergy 34:1011–1016
- Chan-Yeung MJ, Malo L (1994) Epidemiology of occupational asthma. In: Busse W, Holgate ST (eds) Asthma and rhinitis. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 44–57
- Checkoway H, Pearce N, Kriebel D (2004) Research methods in occupational epidemiology. Oxford University Press, New York
- Chen Y, Rennie D, Cormier Y, McDuffie H, Pahwa P, Dosman J (2007) Reduced risk of atopic sensitization among farmers: The Humboldt Study. Int Arch Allergy Immun 144:338–342
- Chinn S, Jarvis D, Burney P, Luczynska C, Ackermann-Liebrich U, Anto JM, Cerveri I, De Marco R, Gislason T, Heinrich J, Janson C, Kunzli N, Leynaert B, Neukirch F, Schouten J, Sunyer J, Svanes C, Vermeire P, Wjst M (2004) Increase in diagnosed asthma but not in symptoms in the European Community Respiratory Health Survey. Thorax 59:646–651
- Chrischilles E, Ahrens R, Kuehl A, Kelly K, Thorne P, Burmeister L, Merchant J (2004) Asthma prevalence and morbidity among rural Iowa schoolchildren. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113:66–71
- Ciba Foundation Guest Symposium (1959) Terminology definitions, classification of chronic pulmonary emphysema and related conditions. Thorax 14:286–299
- Ciprandi G, Vizzaccaro A, Cirillo I, Crimi P, Canonica GW (1996) Increase of asthma and allergic rhinitis prevalence in young Italian men. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 111:278–283
- Cohet C, Cheng S, MacDonald C, Baker M, Foliaki S, Huntington N, Douwes J, Pearce N (2004) Infections, medication use, and the prevalence of symptoms of asthma, rhinitis, and eczema in childhood. J Epidemiol Community Health 58:852–857
- Cookson H, Granell R, Joinson C, Ben-Shlomo Y, Henderson AJ (2009) Mothers' anxiety during pregnancy is associated with asthma in their children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:847–853
- Corver K, Kerkhof M, Brussee JE, Brunekreef B, van Strien RT, Vos AP, Smit HA, Gerritsen J, Neijens HJ, de Jongste JC (2006) House dust mite allergen reduction and allergy at 4 yr: follow up of the PIAMA-study. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 17:329–336
- Crater DD, Heise S, Perzanowski M, Herbert R, Morse CG, Hulsey TC, Platts-Mills T (2001) Asthma hospitalization trends in Charleston, South Carolina, 1956 to 1997: twenty-fold increase among black children during a 30-year period. Pediatrics 108:E97

- Czebe K, Barta I, Antus B, Valyon M, Horvath I, Kullmann T (2008) Influence of condensing equipment and temperature on exhaled breath condensate pH, total protein and leukotriene concentrations. Respir Med 102:720–725
- de Meer G, Marks GB, Postma DS (2004a) Direct or indirect stimuli for bronchial challenge testing: what is the relevance for asthma epidemiology? Clin Exp Allergy 34:9–16
- de Meer G, Toelle BG, Ng K, Tovey E, Marks GB (2004b) Presence and timing of cat ownership by age 18 and the effect on atopy and asthma at age 28. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113:433–438
- de Meer G, Marks GB, de Jongste JC, Brunekreef B (2005) Airway responsiveness to hypertonic saline: dose-response slope or PD15? Eur Respir J 25:153–158
- Department of Health and Senior Services, State of New Jersey (2006) Industries and asthmacausing agents. http://www.state.nj.us/health/eoh/survweb/wra/agents.shtml. Accessed 27 Aug 2011
- Department of Human Health and Human Services (DHHS), US (2006) The health consequences of involuntary exposure to tobacco smoke: a report of the Surgeon General. US Department of Human Health and Human Services, Centres for Disease Control and Prevention, Coordinating Centre for Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health, Atlanta

Devereux G (2007) Early life events in asthma - diet. Pediatr Pulmonol 42:663-673

- Dimich-Ward H, Chow Y, Chung J, Trask C (2006) Contact with livestock a protective effect against allergies and asthma? Clin Exp Allergy 36:1122–1129
- Dodge RR, Burrows B (1980) The prevalence and incidence of asthma and asthma-like symptoms in a general population sample. Am Rev Respir Dis 122:567–575
- Doll R, Payne P, Waterhouse J (eds) (1966) Cancer incidence in five continents. Springer, Berlin
- Dolovich J, Hargreave F (1981) The asthma syndrome: inciters, inducers, and host characteristics. Thorax 36:614–644
- Douwes J, Pearce N (2002) Asthma and the westernization 'package'. Int J Epidemiol 31: 1098–1102
- Douwes J, Pearce N (2003) Is indoor mold exposure a risk factor for asthma? Am J Epidemiol 158:203–206
- Douwes J, Pearce N (2008) Commentary: the end of the hygiene hypothesis? Int J Epidemiol 37:570–572
- Douwes J, Gibson P, Pekkanen J, Pearce N (2002a) Non-eosinophilic asthma: importance and possible mechanisms. Thorax 57:643–648
- Douwes J, Pearce N, Heederik D (2002b) Does environmental endotoxin exposure prevent asthma? Thorax 57:86–90
- Douwes J, Le Gros G, Gibson P, Pearce N (2004) Can bacterial endotoxin exposure reverse atopy and atopic disease? J Allergy Clin Immunol 114:1051–1054
- Douwes J, van Strien R, Doekes G, Smit J, Kerkhof M, Gerritsen J, Postma D, de Jongste J, Travier N, Brunekreef B (2006) Does early indoor microbial exposure reduce the risk of asthma? The Prevention and Incidence of Asthma and Mite Allergy birth cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:1067–1073
- Douwes J, Travier N, Huang K, Cheng S, McKenzie J, Le Gros G, von Mutius E, Pearce N (2007) Lifelong farm exposure may strongly reduce the risk of asthma in adults. Allergy 62:1158–1165
- Douwes J, Cheng S, Travier N, Cohet C, Niesink A, McKenzie J, Cunningham C, Le Gros G, von Mutius E, Pearce N (2008) Farm exposure in utero may protect against asthma, hay fever and eczema. Eur Respir J 32:603–611
- Douwes J, Brooks C, Pearce N (2009) The protective effects of farming on allergies and asthma: have we learnt anything since 1873? Exp Rev Clin Immunol 5:213–219
- Douwes J, Brooks C, Pearce N (2010) Stress and asthma: hippocrates revisited. J Epidemiol Community Health 64:561–562
- Douwes J, Brooks C, Pearce N (2011) Asthma nervosa: old concept, new insight. Eur Respir J 37:986–990
- Downs SH, Marks GB, Mitakakis TZ, Leuppi JD, Car NG, Peat JK (2001) Having lived on a farm and protection against allergic diseases in Australia. Clin Exp Allergy 31:570–575

- Dowse GK, Turner KJ, Stewart GA, Alpers MP, Woolcock AJ (1985) The association between Dermatophagoides mites and the increasing prevalence of asthma in village communities within the Papua New Guinea highlands. J Allergy Clin Immunol 75:75–83
- Dressel H, de la Motte D, Reichert J, Ochmann U, Petru R, Angerer P, Holz O, Nowak D, Jorres RA (2008) Exhaled nitric oxide: independent effects of atopy, smoking, respiratory tract infection, gender and height. Respir Med 102:962–969
- Dring T, Harper C, Leigh J (1689) Practice of physick, pharmaceutica rationalis or the operations of medicine in humane bodies. London
- Eagan TM, Bakke PS, Eide GE, Gulsvik A (2002) Incidence of asthma and respiratory symptoms by sex, age and smoking in a community study. Eur Respir J 19:599–605
- Edfors-Lubs ML (1971) Allergy in 7000 twin pairs. Acta Allergologica 26:249-285
- Eduard W, Douwes J, Omenaas E, Heederik D (2004a) Do farming exposures cause or prevent asthma? Results from a study of adult Norwegian farmers. Thorax 59:381–386
- Eduard W, Omenaas E, Bakke PS, Douwes J, Heederik D (2004b) Atopic and non-atopic asthma in a farming and a general population. Am J Ind Med 46:396–399
- Ege MJ, Bieli C, Frei R, van Strien RT, Riedler J, Ublagger E, Schram-Bijkerk D, Brunekreef B, van Hage M, Scheynius A, Pershagen G, Benz MR, Lauener R, von Mutius E, Braun-Fahrlander C (2006) Prenatal farm exposure is related to the expression of receptors of the innate immunity and to atopic sensitization in school-age children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:817–823
- Ege MJ, Mayer M, Normand AC, Genuneit J, Cookson WO, Braun-Fahrländer C, Heederik D, Piarroux R, von Mutius E; GABRIELA Transregio 22 Study Group (2011) Exposure to environmental microorganisms and childhood asthma. N Engl J Med 364:701–709
- Ehrlich RI, Du Toit D, Jordaan E, Volmink JA, Weinberg EG, Zwarenstein M (1995) Prevalence and reliability of asthma symptoms in primary school children in Cape Town. Int J Epidemiol 24:1138–1145
- Ellison-Loschmann L, Pearce N (2006) Improving access to health care among New Zealand's Maori population. Am J Pub Health 96:612–617
- Ellison-Loschmann L, Sunyer J, Plana E, Pearce N, Zock JP, Jarvis D, Janson C, Anto JM, Kogevinas M (2007) Socioeconomic status, asthma and chronic bronchitis in a large community-based study. Eur Respir J 29:897–905
- Ellul-Micallef R (1976) Asthma: a look at the past. Br J Dis Chest 70:112–116
- Ellwood P, Asher MI, Bjorksten M, Burr M, Pearce N, Robertson CF (2001) Diet and asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis and atopic eczema symptom prevalence: an ecological analysis of the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) data. ISAAC Phase One Study Group. Eur Respir J 17:436–443
- Ellwood P, Asher MI, Beasley R, Clayton TO, Stewart AW (2005) The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC): phase three rationale and methods. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 9:10–16
- Enarson D (2005) Fostering a spirit of critical thinking: the ISAAC story. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 9:1
- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), US (1992) Respiratory health effects of passive smoking: lung cancer and other disorders. Office of Research and Development, US Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC
- Ernst P, Cormier Y (2000) Relative scarcity of asthma and atopy among rural adolescents raised on a farm. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 161:1563–1566
- Farber HJ, Wattigney W, Berenson G (1997) Trends in asthma prevalence: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 78:265–269
- Farooqi IS, Hopkin JM (1998) Early childhood infection and atopic disorder. Thorax 53:927–932
- Fishwick D, Pearce N, D'Souza W, Lewis S, Town I, Armstrong R, Kogevinas M, Crane J (1997) Occupational asthma in New Zealanders: a population based study [comment]. Occup Environ Med 54:301–306
- Fleming DM, Crombie DL (1987) Prevalence of asthma and hay fever in England and Wales. BMJ 294:279–283

- Flohr C, Weiland SK, Weinmayr G, Bjorksten B, Braback L, Brunekreef B, Buchele G, Clausen M, Cookson WO, von Mutius E, Strachan DP, Williams HC (2008) The role of atopic sensitization in flexural eczema: findings from the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood phase two. J Allergy Clin Immunol 121:141–147
- Foliaki S, Pearce N, Bjorksten B, Mallol J, Montefort S, von Mutius E (2009) Antibiotic use in infancy and symptoms of asthma, rhinoconjunctivitis, and eczema in children 6 and 7 years old: International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood phase III. J Allergy Clin Immunol 124:982–989
- Friedman NJ, Zeiger RS (2005) The role of breast-feeding in the development of allergies and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115:1238–1248
- Garcia-Marcos L, Quiros AB, Hernandez GG, Guillen-Grima F, Diaz CG, Urena IU, Pena AA, Monge RB, Suarez-Varela MM, Varela AL, Cabanillas PG, Garrido JB (2004) Stabilization of asthma prevalence among adolescents and increase among schoolchildren (ISAAC phases I and III) in Spain. Allergy 59:1301–1307
- Gehring U, Bolte G, Borte M, Bischof W, Fahlbusch B, Wichmann HE, Heinrich J (2001) Exposure to endotoxin decreases the risk of atopic eczema in infancy: a cohort study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 108:847–854
- Gergen PJ, Mullally DI, Evans R (1988) National survey of prevalence of asthma among children in the United States, 1976 to 1980. Pediatrics 81:1–7
- Gibson PG, Henry RL, Thomas P (2000) Noninvasive assessment of airway inflammation in children: induced sputum, exhaled nitric oxide, and breath condensate. Eur Respir J 16: 1008–1015
- Gilliland FD, Berhane K, Islam T, McConnell R, Gauderman WJ, Gilliland SS, Avol E, Peters JM (2003) Obesity and the risk of newly diagnosed asthma in school-age children. Am J Epidemiol 158:406–415
- Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) (2006) Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. Global initiative for asthma. http://www.ginasthma.org. Accessed 27 Aug 2011
- Global Initiative for Asthma (GINA) (2010) Global strategy for asthma management and prevention. Global initiative for asthma. http://www.ginasthma.org. Accessed 5 Oct 2011
- Godfrey KM, Barker DJP, Osmond C (1994) Disproportionate fetal growth and raised IgE concentration in adult life. Clin Exp Allergy 24:641–648
- Gold DR, Damokosh AI, Dockery DW, Berkey CS (2003) Body-mass index as a predictor of incident asthma in a prospective cohort of children. Pediatr Pulmonol 36:514–521
- Gotzsche PC, Hammarquist C, Burr M (1998) House dust mite control measures in the management of asthma: meta-analysis. BMJ 317:1105–1110
- Haahtela T, Lindholm H, Bjorksten F, Koskenvuo K, Laitinen LA (1990) Prevalence of asthma in Finnish young men. BMJ 301:266–268
- Hakala K, Stenius-Aarniala B, Sovijarvi A (2000) Effects of weight loss on peak flow variability, airways obstruction, and lung volumes in obese patients with asthma. Chest 118:1315–1321
- Hesselmar B, Aberg N, Aberg B, Eriksson B, Bjorksten B (1999) Does early exposure to cat or dog protect against later allergy development? Clin Exp Allergy 29:611–617
- Hill R, Williams J, Tattersfield A, Britton J (1989) Change in use of asthma as a diagnostic label for wheezing illness in schoolchildren. BMJ 299:898
- Hirsch T, Range U, Walther KU, Hederer B, Lassig S, Frey G, Leupold W (1998) Prevalence and determinants of house dust mite allergen in East German homes. Clin Exp Allergy 28:956–964
- Hoffmeyer F, Raulf-Heimsoth M, Bruning T (2009) Exhaled breath condensate and airway inflammation. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol 9:16–22
- Holgate ST (2004) The epidemic of asthma and allergy. J R Soc Med 97:103-110
- Horak F, Studnicka M, Gartner C, Veiter A, Tauber E, Urbanek R, Frischer T (2002) Parental farming protects children against atopy: longitudinal evidence involving skin prick tests. Clin Exp Allergy 32:1155–1159
- Hsieh K-H, Shen J-J (1991) Prevalence of childhood asthma in Taipei, Taiwan and other Asian Pacific countries. J Asthma 25:73–82

- Infante-Rivard C, Esnaola Sukia S, Roberge D, Baumgarten M (1987) The changing frequency of childhood asthma. J Asthma 24:283–288
- James A, Ryan G (1997) Testing airway responsiveness using inhaled methacholine or histamine. Respirology 2:97–105
- Jatakanon A, Lim S, Kharitonov SA, Chung KF, Barnes PJ (1998) Correlation between exhaled nitric oxide, sputum eosinophils, and methacholine responsiveness in patients with mild asthma. Thorax 53:91–95
- Jenkins HS, Devalia JL, Mister RL, Bevan AM, Rusznak C, Davies RJ (1999) The effect of exposure to ozone and nitrogen dioxide on the airway response of atopic asthmatics to inhaled allergen: dose- and time-dependent effects. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 160:33–39
- Johnston SL (2007) Innate immunity in the pathogenesis of virus-induced asthma exacerbations. Proc Am Thorac Soc 4:267–270
- Johnston SL, Pattemore PK, Sanderson G, Smith S, Lampe F, Josephs L, Symington P, Otoole S, Myint SH, Tyrrell DAJ, Holgate ST (1995) Community study of role of viral-infections in exacerbations of asthma in 9–11 year-old children. BMJ 310:1225–1229
- Josephs LK, Gregg I, Holgate ST (1990) Does non-specific bronchial responsiveness indicate the severity of asthma? Eur Respir J 3:220–227
- Karjalainen A, Kurppa K, Martikainen R, Klaukka T, Karjalainen J (2001) Work is related to a substantial portion of adult-onset asthma incidence in the Finnish population. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:565–568
- Kauffmann F, Oryszczyn MP, Maccario J (2002) The protective role of country living on skin prick tests, immunoglobulin E and asthma in adults from the epidemiological study on the genetics and environment of asthma, bronchial hyper-responsiveness and atopy. Clin Exp Allergy 32:379–386
- Keeney EL (1964) The history of asthma from Hippocrates to Meltzer. J Allergy 35:215-226
- Kerkhof M, Wijga AH, Brunekreef B, Smit HA, de Jongste JC, Aalberse RC, Hoekstra MO, Gerritsen J, Postma DS (2009) Effects of pets on asthma development up to 8 years of age: the PIAMA study. Allergy 64:1202–1208
- Kharitonov SA, Barnes PJ (2006) Exhaled biomarkers. Chest 130:1541-1546
- Kharitonov SA, Robbins RA, Yates D, Keatings V, Barnes PJ (1995) Acute and chronic effects of cigarette smoking on exhaled nitric oxide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 152:609–612
- Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Barnes PJ (1996) Inhaled glucocorticoids decrease nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:454–457
- Kilpelainen M, Terho EO, Helenius H, Koskenvuo M (2002) Childhood farm environment and asthma and sensitization in young adulthood. Allergy 57:1130–1135
- Kimbell-Dunn M, Pearce N, Beasley R (1999) Asthma. In: Goldman M, Hatch M (eds) Women and health. Academic, San Diego, pp 724–739
- Klintberg B, Berglund N, Lilja G, Wickman M, van Hage-Hamsten M (2001) Fewer allergic respiratory disorders among farmers' children in a closed birth cohort from Sweden. Eur Respir J 17:1151–1157
- Kogevinas M, Anto JM, Soriano JB, Tobias A, Burney P, Martinez Moratalla J, Almar E, Aguilar X, Arevalo M, Mateos A, Sanchez A, Teixido A, Vizcaya M, Sunyer J, Burgos F, Castellsague J, Galobardes MB, Benavides FG, Roca J, Muniozguren N, Errezola M, Capelastegui A, Ramos J, Maldonado JA, Sanchez JL, Pereira A, Gravalos J, Quiros R, Azofra J, Palenciano L, Payo F, Rego G, Vega A (1996) The risk of asthma attributable to occupational exposures a population-based study in Spain. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 154:137–143
- Koskela HO, Happonen KK, Remes ST, Pekkanen J (2005) Effect of farming environment on sensitisation to allergens continues after childhood. Occup Environ Med 62:607–611
- Kramer MS, Matush L, Vanilovich I, Platt R, Bogdanovich N, Sevkovskaya Z, Dzikovich I, Shishko G, Mazer B (2007) Effect of prolonged and exclusive breast feeding on risk of allergy and asthma: cluster randomised trial. BMJ 335:815
- Kummeling I, Stelma FF, Dagnelie PC, Snijders BE, Penders J, Huber M, van Ree R, van den Brandt P, Thijs C (2007) Early life exposure to antibiotics and the subsequent development of

eczema, wheeze, and allergic sensitization in the first 2 years of life: the KOALA Birth Cohort Study. Pediatrics 119:e225-e231

- Lau S, Illi S, Sommerfeld C, Niggemann B, Bergmann R, von Mutius E, Wahn U (2000) Early exposure to house-dust mite and cat allergens and development of childhood asthma: a cohort study. Multicentre Allergy Study Group. Lancet 356:1392–1397
- Lau S, Nickel R, Niggemann B, Gruber C, Sommerfeld C, Illi S, Kulig M, Forster J, Wahn U, Groeger M, Zepp F, Kamin W, Bieber I, Tacke U, Wahn V, Bauer CP, Bergmann R, von Mutius E (2002) The development of childhood asthma: lessons from the German Multicentre Allergy Study (MAS). Paediatr Respir Rev 3:265–272
- Lemanske RF Jr, Jackson DJ, Gangnon RE, Evans MD, Li Z, Shult PA, Kirk CJ, Reisdorf E, Roberg KA, Anderson EL, Carlson-Dakes KT, Adler KJ, Gilbertson-White S, Pappas TE, Dasilva DF, Tisler CJ, Gern JE (2005) Rhinovirus illnesses during infancy predict subsequent childhood wheezing. J Allergy Clin Immunol 116:571–577
- Leung R, Ho P, Lam CWK, Lai CWK (1997) Sensitization to inhaled allergens as a risk factor for asthma and allergic diseases in Chinese population. J Allergy Clin Immunol 99: 594–599
- Leynaert B, Neukirch C, Jarvis D, Chinn S, Burney P, Neukirch F (2001) Does living on a farm during childhood protect against asthma, allergic rhinitis, and atopy in adulthood? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 164:1829–1834
- Liard R, Chansin R, Neukirch F, Levallois M, Leproux P (1988) Prevalence of asthma among teenagers attending school in Tahiti. J Epidemiol Community Health 42:149–151
- Littlejohns L, Macdonald LD (1993) The relationship between severe asthma and social-class. Respir Med 87:139–143
- Littlejohns P, Ebrahim S, Anderson R (1989) Prevalence and diagnosis of chronic respiratory symptoms in adults. BMJ 298:1556–1560
- Lowe A, Abramson M, Dharmage S, Allen K (2009) Paracetamol as a risk factor for allergic disorders. Lancet 373:120; author reply: 120–121
- Magnus PJ, Jaakkola JK (1997) Secular trend in the occurrence of asthma among children and young adults: critical appraisal of repeated cross sectional surveys. BMJ 314:1795–1799
- Manfreda J, Becker AB, Wang PZ, Roos LL, Anthonisen NR (1993) Trends in physician-diagnosed asthma prevalence in Manitoba between 1980 and 1990. Chest 103:151–157
- Mannino DM, Mott J, Ferdinands JM, Camargo CA, Friedman M, Greves HM, Redd SC (2006) Boys with high body masses have an increased risk of developing asthma: findings from the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth (NLSY). Int J Obes 30:6–13
- Martinez FD (1997) Complexities of the genetics of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 156: S117–S122
- Martinez FD, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM (1988) Diminished lung-function as a predisposing factor for wheezing respiratory illness in infants. N Engl J Med 319: 1112–1117
- Matheson MC, Erbas B, Balasuriya A, Jenkins MA, Wharton CL, Tang ML, Abramson MJ, Walters EH, Hopper JL, Dharmage SC (2007) Breast-feeding and atopic disease: a cohort study from childhood to middle age. J Allergy Clin Immunol 120:1051–1057
- Matricardi PM, Rosmini F, Ferrigno L, Nisini R, Rapicetta M, Chionne P, Stroffolini T, Pasquini P, D'Amelio R (1997) Cross sectional retrospective study of prevalence of atopy among Italian military students with antibodies against hepatitis A virus. BMJ 314:999–1003
- Matricardi PM, Rosmini F, Riondino S, Fortini M, Ferrigno L, Rapicetta M, Bonini S (2000) Exposure to foodborne and orofecal microbes versus airborne viruses in relation to atopy and allergic asthma: epidemiological study. BMJ 320:412–417
- McConnell R, Berhane K, Gilliland F, London SJ, Islam T, Gauderman WJ, Avol E, Margolis HG, Peters JM (2002) Asthma in exercising children exposed to ozone: a cohort study. Lancet 359:386–391
- McDonnell WF, Abbey DE, Nishino N, Lebowitz MD (1999) Long-term ambient ozone concentration and the incidence of asthma in nonsmoking adults: the AHSMOG Study. Environ Res 80:110–121

- McKeever TM, Lewis SA, Smith C, Collins J, Heatlie H, Frischer M, Hubbard R (2002a) Early exposure to infections and antibiotics and the incidence of allergic disease: a birth cohort study with the West Midlands General Practice Research Database. J Allergy Clin Immunol 109: 43–50
- McKeever TM, Lewis SA, Smith C, Hubbard R (2002b) The importance of prenatal exposures on the development of allergic disease: a birth cohort study using the West Midlands General Practice Database. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 166:827–832
- Melsom T, Brinch L, Hessen JO, Schei MA, Kolstrup N, Jacobsen BK, Svanes C, Pandey MR (2001) Asthma and indoor environment in Nepal. Thorax 56:477–481
- Mendall MA, Kumar D (1998) Antibiotic use, childhood affluence and irritable bowel syndrome (IBS). Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 10:59–62
- Meredith S, Nordman H (1996) Occupational asthma: measures of frequency from four countries. Thorax 51:435–440
- Meredith SK, Taylor VM, McDonald JC (1991) Occupational respiratory disease in the United Kingdom 1989: a report to the British Thoracic Society and the Society of Occupational Medicine by the SWORD project group. Br J Ind Med 48:292–298
- Midodzi WK, Rowe BH, Majaesic CM, Senthilselvan A (2007) Reduced risk of physiciandiagnosed asthma among children dwelling in a farming environment. Respirology 12:692–699
- Miller BD, Wood BL, Lim J, Ballow M, Hsu C (2009) Depressed children with asthma evidence increased airway resistance: "vagal bias" as a mechanism? J Allergy Clin Immunol 124:66–73
- Michel S, Liang L, Depner M, Klopp N, Ruether A, Kumar A, Schedel M, Vogelberg C, von Mutius E, von Berg A, Bufe A, Rietschel E, Heinzmann A, Laub O, Simma B, Frischer T, Genuneit J, Gut IG, Schreiber S, Lathrop M, Illig T, Kabesch M (2010) Unifying candidate gene and GWAS approaches in asthma. PLoS One 5:e13894
- Mitchell EA (1983) Increasing prevalence of asthma in children. N Z Med J 96:463-464
- Mitchell EA, Stewartt AW, IPOS Group (2002) The ecological relationship of tobacco smoking to the prevalence of symptoms of asthma and other atopic diseases in children: the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Eur J Epidemiol 17:667–673
- Moffatt MF, Gut IG, Demenais F, Strachan DP, Bouzigon E, Heath S, von Mutius E, Farrall M, Lathrop M, Cookson WO, GABRIEL Consortium (2010) A large-scale, consortium-based genomewide association study of asthma. N Engl J Med 363:1211–1221
- Mommers M, Guekjens-Sijstermans C, Swaen GMH, van Schayck CP (2005) Trends in the prevalence of respiratory symptoms and treatment in Dutch children over a 12 year period: results of the fourth consecutive survey. Thorax 60:97–99
- Moncayo AL, Vaca M, Oviedo G, Erazo S, Quinzo I, Fiaccone RL, Chico ME, Barreto ML, Cooper PJ (2010) Risk factors for atopic and non-atopic asthma in a rural area of Ecuador. Thorax 65:409–416
- Morrison Smith J (1976) The prevalence of asthma and wheezing in children. Br J Dis Chest 70:73–77
- Newson RB, Shaheen SO, Chinn S, Burney PG (2000) Paracetamol sales and atopic disease in children and adults: an ecological analysis. Eur Respir J 16:817–823
- Ninan TK, Russell G (1992) Respiratory symptoms and atopy in Aberdeen schoolchildren: evidence from two surveys 25 years apart. BMJ 304:873–875
- Nishima S (1993) A study on the prevalence of bronchial asthma in school children in western districts of Japan comparison between the studies in 1982 and in 1992 with the same methods and same districts. The Study Group of the Prevalence of Bronchial Asthma, the West Japan Study Group of Bronchial Asthma. Arerugi 42:192–204
- Ober C, Yao TC (2011) The genetics of asthma and allergic disease: a 21st century perspective. Immunol Rev 242:10–30
- Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA) (1997) Health effects of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke California. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, California Environmental Protection Agency

- Olin AC, Rosengren A, Thelle DS, Lissner L, Bake B, Toren K (2006) Height, age, and atopy are associated with fraction of exhaled nitric oxide in a large adult general population sample. Chest 130:1319–1325
- Omran M, Russell G (1996) Continuing increase in respiratory symptoms and atopy in Aberdeen schoolchildren. BMJ 312:34
- Osler W (1892) Bronchial asthma. Appleton, New York
- Pattemore PK, Ellison-Loschmann L, Asher MI, Barry DMJ, Clayton TO, Crane J, D'Souza WJ, Ellwood P, Ford RPK, Mackay RJ, Mitchell EA, Moyes C, Pearce N, Stewart AW (2004) Asthma prevalence in European, Maori, and Pacific children in New Zealand: ISAAC study. Pediatr Pulmonol 37:433–442
- Pearce N (1992) Methodological problems of time-related variables in occupational cohort studies. Rev Epidemiol Sante Publique 40(Suppl) 1:S43–S54
- Pearce N (1996) Traditional epidemiology, modern epidemiology, and public health. Am J Public Health 86:678–683
- Pearce N (1999) Epidemiology as a population science. Int J Epidemiol 28:S1015-S1018
- Pearce N, Beasley R (1999) Measuring morbidity in adult asthmatics. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 3:185–191
- Pearce N, Douwes J (2005) Asthma time trends mission accomplished? Int J Epidemiol 34: 1018–1019
- Pearce N, Douwes J (2006) The global epidemiology of asthma in children. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 10:125–132
- Pearce N, Douwes J (2009) Response: time for species–course epidemiology? Int J Epidemiol 38:403–410
- Pearce N, Weiland S, Keil U, Langridge P, Anderson HR, Strachan D, Bauman A, Young L, Gluyas P, Ruffinet D (1993) Self-reported prevalence of asthma symptoms in children in Australia, England, Germany and New Zealand: an international comparison using the ISAAC protocol. Eur Respir J 6:1455–1461
- Pearce N, de Sanjose S, Boffetta P, Kogevinas M, Saracci R, Savitz D (1995) Limitations of biomarkers of exposure in cancer epidemiology. Epidemiology 6:190–194
- Pearce N, Beasley R, Burgess C, Crane J (1998a) Asthma epidemiology: principles and methods. Oxford University Press, New York
- Pearce N, Beasley R, Crane J, Burgess C (1998b) Pharmacoepidemiology of asthma deaths. In: Tilson H (ed) Pharmacoepidemiology: an introduction, 3rd edn. Harvey Whitney, Cincinatti, pp 473–494
- Pearce N, Pekkanen J, Beasley R (1999) How much asthma is really attributable to atopy? Thorax 54:268–272
- Pearce N, Beasley R, Pekkanen J (2000a) Role of bronchial responsiveness testing in asthma prevalence surveys. Thorax 55:352–354
- Pearce N, Douwes J, Beasley R (2000b) The rise and rise of asthma: a new paradigm for the new millennium? J Epidemiol Biostat 5:5–16
- Pearce N, Douwes J, Beasley R (2000c) Is allergen exposure the major primary cause of asthma? Thorax 55:424–431
- Pearce N, Ait-Khaled N, Beasley R, Mallol J, Keil U, Mitchell E, Robertson C (2007) Worldwide trends in the prevalence of asthma symptoms: phase III of the International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC). Thorax 62:758–766
- Peat JK, Tovey E, Toelle BG, Haby MM, Gray EJ, Mahmic A, Woolcock AJ (1996) House dust mite allergens. A major risk factor for childhood asthma in Australia. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:141–146
- Peckham C, Butler N (1978) A national study of asthma in childhood. J Epidemiol Community Health 32:79–85
- Pekkanen J, Pearce N (1999) Defining asthma in epidemiological studies. Eur Respir J 14:951–957
- Perdrizet S, Neukirch F, Cooreman J, Liard R (1987) Prevalence of asthma in adolescents in various parts of France and its relationship to respiratory allergic manifestations. Chest 91:104S–106S

- Perkin MR, Strachan DP (2006) Which aspects of the farming lifestyle explain the inverse association with childhood allergy? J Allergy Clin Immunol 117:1374–1381
- Pijnenburg MW, Bakker EM, Hop WC, De Jongste JC (2005) Titrating steroids on exhaled nitric oxide in children with asthma: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 172:831–836
- Porsbjerg C, Lund TK, Pedersen L, Backer V (2009) Inflammatory subtypes in asthma are related to airway hyperresponsiveness to mannitol and exhaled NO. J Asthma 46:606–612
- Portengen L, Sigsgaard T, Omland O, Hjort C, Heederik D, Doekes G (2002) Low prevalence of atopy in young Danish farmers and farming students born and raised on a farm. Clin Exp Allergy 32:247–253
- Portengen L, Preller L, Tielen M, Doekes G, Heederik D (2005) Endotoxin exposure and atopic sensitization in adult pig farmers. J Allergy Clin Immunol 115:797–802
- Priftanji A, Strachan D, Burr M, Sinamati J, Shkurti A, Grabocka E, Kaur B, Fitzpatrick S (2001) Asthma and allergy in Albania and the UK. Lancet 358:1426–1427
- Quanjer PH, Tammeling GJ, Cotes JE, Pedersen OF, Peslin R, Yernault JC (1993) Lung volumes and forced ventilatory flows. Report Working Party Standardization of Lung Function Tests, European Community for Steel and Coal. Official statement of the European respiratory society. Eur Respir J Suppl 16:5–40
- Radon K, Schulze A, Nowak D (2006) Inverse association between farm animal contact and respiratory allergies in adulthood: protection, underreporting or selection? Allergy 61:443–446
- Redline S, Gold D (1994) Challenges in interpreting gender differences in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 150:1219–1221
- Reisman J, Schachter HM, Dales RE, Tran K, Kourad K, Barnes D, Sampson M, Morrison A, Gaboury I, Blackman J (2006) Treating asthma with omega-3 fatty acids: where is the evidence? A systematic review. BMC Complement Altern Med 6:26
- Remes ST, Pekkanen J, Soininen L, Kajosaari M, Husman T, Koivikko A (2002) Does heredity modify the association between farming and allergy in children? Acta Paediatr 91:1163–1169
- Remes ST, Iivanainen K, Koskela H, Pekkanen J (2003) Which factors explain the lower prevalence of atopy amongst farmers' children? Clin Exp Allergy 33:427–434
- Riedler J, Eder W, Oberfeld G, Schreuer M (2000) Austrian children living on a farm have less hay fever, asthma and allergic sensitization. Clin Exp Allergy 30:194–200
- Riedler J, Braun-Fahrlander C, Eder W, Schreuer M, Waser M, Maisch S, Carr D, Schierl R, Nowak D, von Mutius E (2001) Exposure to farming in early life and development of asthma and allergy: a cross-sectional survey. Lancet 358:1129–1133
- Robertson CF, Heycock E, Bishop J, Nolan T, Olinsky A, Phelan PD (1991) Prevalence of asthma in Melbourne schoolchildren: changes over 26 years. BMJ 302:1116–1118
- Robertson CF, Roberts MF, Kappers JH (2004) Asthma prevalence in Melbourne schoolchildren: have we reached the peak? Med J Aust 180:273–276
- Romagnani S (2004) Immunologic influences on allergy and the TH1/TH2 balance. J Allergy Clin Immunol 113:395–400
- Ronchetti R, Rennerova Z, Barreto M, Villa MP (2007) The prevalence of atopy in asthmatic children correlates strictly with the prevalence of atopy among nonasthmatic children. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 142:79–85
- Salter HH (1860) On asthma: its pathology and treatment. John Churchill & Sons, London
- Sandford A, Weir T, Pare P (1996) The genetics of asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153: 1749–1765
- Schenker MB, Christiani D, Cormier Y, Dimich-Ward H, Doekes G, Dosman J, Douwes J, Dowling K, Enarson D, Green F, Heederik D, Husman K, Kennedy S, Kullman G, Lacasse Y, Lawson B, Malmberg P, May J, McCurdy S, Merchant J, Myers J, Nieuwenhuijsen M, Olenchock S, Saiki C, Schwartz D, Seiber J, Thorne P, Wagner G, White N, Xu XP, Chan-Yeung M (1998) Respiratory health hazards in agriculture. Am J Resp Crit Care Med 158:S1–S76
- Sears MR, Lewis S, Herbison GP, Robson B, Flannery EM, Holdaway MD, Pearce N, Crane J, Silva PA (1997) Comparison of reported prevalences of recent asthma in longitudinal and crosssectional studies. Eur Respir J 10:51–54

- Sears MR, Greene JM, Willan AR, Taylor DR, Flannery EM, Cowan JO, Herbison JP, Poulton R (2002) Long-term relation between breastfeeding and development of atopy and asthma in children and young adults: a longitudinal study. Lancet 360:901–907
- Shaheen SO, Aaby P, Hall AJ, Barker DJ, Heyes CB, Shiell AW, Goudiaby A (1996) Measles and atopy in Guinea-Bissau. Lancet 347:1792–1796
- Shaheen SO, Sterne JA, Songhurst CE, Burney PG (2000) Frequent paracetamol use and asthma in adults. Thorax 55:266–270
- Shaheen SO, Newson RB, Sherriff A, Henderson AJ, Heron JE, Burney PG, Golding J (2002) Paracetamol use in pregnancy and wheezing in early childhood. Thorax 57:958–963
- Shaheen SO, Newson RB, Henderson AJ, Headley JE, Stratton FD, Jones RW, Strachan DP (2005) Prenatal paracetamol exposure and risk of asthma and elevated immunoglobulin E in childhood. Clin Exp Allergy 35:18–25
- Shaheen S, Potts J, Gnatiuc L, Makowska J, Kowalski ML, Joos G, van Zele T, van Durme Y, De Rudder I, Wohrl S, Godnic-Cvar J, Skadhauge L, Thomsen G, Zuberbier T, Bergmann KC, Heinzerling L, Gjomarkaj M, Bruno A, Pace E, Bonini S, Fokkens W, Weersink EJ, Loureiro C, Todo-Bom A, Villanueva CM, Sanjuas C, Zock JP, Janson C, Burney P (2008) The relation between paracetamol use and asthma: a GA2LEN European case-control study. Eur Respir J 32:1231–1236
- Shaheen SO, Newson RB, Smith GD, Henderson AJ (2010) Prenatal paracetamol exposure and asthma: further evidence against confounding. Int J Epidemiol 39:790–794
- Shaw RA, Crane J, O'Donnell TV, Porteous LE, Coleman ED (1990) Increasing asthma prevalence in a rural New Zealand adolescent population: 1975–89. Arch Dis Child 65:1319–1323
- Shaw R, Woodman K, Crane J, Moyes C, Kennedy J, Pearce N (1994) Risk factors for asthma symptoms in Kawerau children. N Z Med J 107:387–391
- Shaw R, Woodman K, Ayson M, Dibdin S, Winkelmann R, Crane J, Beasley R, Pearce N (1995) Measuring the prevalence of bronchial hyper-responsiveness in children. Int J Epidemiol 24:597–602
- Shore SA (2007) Obesity and asthma: lessons from animal models. J Appl Physiol 102:516–528
- Sigurs N, Gustafsson PM, Bjarnason R, Lundberg F, Schmidt S, Sigurbergsson F, Kjellman B (2005) Severe respiratory syncytial virus bronchiolitis in infancy and asthma and allergy at age 13. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 171:137–141
- Simpson JL, Scott R, Boyle MJ, Gibson PG (2006) Inflammatory subtypes in asthma: assessment and identification using induced sputum. Respirology 11:54–61
- Simpson JL, Grissell TV, Douwes J, Scott RJ, Boyle MJ, Gibson PG (2007) Innate immune activation in neutrophilic asthma and bronchiectasis. Thorax 62:211–218
- Siroux V, Pin I, Oryszczyn MP, Le Moual N, Kauffmann F (2000) Relationships of active smoking to asthma and asthma severity in the EGEA study. Epidemiological study on the genetics and environment of asthma. Eur Respir J 15:470–477
- Smit LAM, Zuurbier M, Doekes G, Wouters IM, Heederik D, Douwes J (2007) Hay fever and asthma symptoms in conventional and organic farmers in The Netherlands. Occup Environ Med 64:101–107
- Smit LAM, Heederik D, Doekes G, Blom C, van Zweden I, Wouters IM (2008) Exposureresponse analysis of allergy and respiratory symptoms in endotoxin-exposed adults. Eur Respir J 31:1241–1248
- Souza da Cunha S, Barreto ML, Fiaccone RL, Cooper PJ, Alcantara-Neves NM, Simões Sde M, Cruz AA, Rodrigues LC (2010) Asthma cases in childhood attributed to atopy in tropical area in Brazil. Rev Panam Salud Publica 28:405–411
- Sporik R, Holgate ST, Plattsmills TAE, Cogswell JJ (1990) Exposure to house-dust mite Allergen (Der-P-I) and the development of asthma in childhood – a prospective study. N Engl J Med 323:502–507
- Stein RT, Sherrill D, Morgan WJ, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Taussig LM, Wright AL, Martinez FD (1999) Respiratory syncytial virus in early life and risk of wheeze and allergy by age 13 years. Lancet 354:541–545

Stewart AW, Mitchell EA, Pearce N, Strachan DP, Weilandon SK, ISAAC Steering Committee (2001) The relationship of per capita gross national product to the prevalence of symptoms of asthma and other atopic diseases in children (ISAAC). Int J Epidemiol 30:173–179

Strachan DP (1989) Hay fever, hygiene, and household size. BMJ 299:1259-1260

- Strachan DP, Cook DG (1998) Parental smoking and childhood asthma: longitudinal and casecontrol studies. Thorax 53:204–212
- Sunyer J, Jarvis D, Pekkanen J, Chinn S, Janson C, Leynaert B, Luczynska C, Garcia-Esteban R, Burney P, Anto JM (2004) Geographic variations in the effect of atopy on asthma in the European Community Respiratory Health Study. J Allergy Clin Immunol 114:1033–1039
- Taylor DR, Mandhane P, Greene JM, Hancox RJ, Filsell S, McLachlan CR, Williamson AJ, Cowan JO, Smith AD, Sears MR (2007) Factors affecting exhaled nitric oxide measurements: the effect of sex. Respir Res 8:82
- Tepas EC, Litonjua AA, Celedon JC, Sredl D, Gold DR (2006) Sensitization to aeroallergens and airway hyperresponsiveness at 7 years of age. Chest 129:1500–1508
- Thomsen SF, Ulrik CS, Larsen K, Backer V (2004) Change in prevalence of asthma in Danish children and adolescents. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 92:506–511
- Toelle BG, Peat JK, Salome CM, Mellis CM, Woolcock AJ (1992) Toward a definition of asthma for epidemiology. Am Rev Resp Disease 146:633–637
- Travers J, Marsh S, Aldington S, Williams M, Shirtcliffe P, Pritchard A, Weatherall M, Beasley R (2007) Reference ranges for exhaled nitric oxide derived from a random community survey of adults. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176:238–242
- Tuomilehto J, Kuulasmaa K, Torppa J (1987) WHO MONICA Project: geographic variation in mortality from cardiovascular diseases. World Health Stat Q 40:171–184
- Turner MO, Hussack P, Sears MR, Dolovich J, Hargreave FE (1995) Exacerbations of asthma without sputum eosinophilia. Thorax 50:1057–1061
- Unger L, Harris MC (1974) Stepping stones in allergy. Ann Allergy 32:214-230
- van Strien RT, Verhoeff AP, Brunekreef B, Van Wijnen JH (1994) Mite antigen in house dust: relationship with different housing characteristics in The Netherlands. Clin Exp Allergy 24:843–853
- Varner AE, Busse WW, Lemanske RE Jr (1998) Hypothesis: decreased use of pediatric aspirin has contributed to the increasing prevalence of childhood asthma. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 81:347–351
- Vercelli D (2009) Gene-environment interactions: the road less traveled by in asthma genetics. J Allergy Clin Immunol 123:26–27
- Vig RS, Forsythe P, Vliagoftis H (2006) The role of stress in asthma: insight from studies on the effect of acute and chronic stressors in models of airway inflammation. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1088:65–77
- Viinanen A, Munhbayarlah S, Zevgee T, Narantsetseg L, Naidansuren T, Koskenvuo M, Helenius H, Terho EO (2007) The protective effect of rural living against atopy in Mongolia. Allergy 62:272–280
- von Ehrenstein OS, von Mutius E, Illi S, Baumann L, Bohm O, von Kries R (2000) Reduced risk of hay fever and asthma among children of farmers. Clin Exp Allergy 30:187–193
- von Hertzen LC (2002) Maternal stress and T-cell differentiation of the developing immune system: possible implications for the development of asthma and atopy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 109:923–928
- von Mutius E, Martinez FD, Fritzsch C (1994) Skin test reactivity and number of siblings. BMJ 308:692–695
- von Mutius E, Weiland SK, Fritzsch C, Duhme H, Keil U (1998) Increasing prevalence of hay fever and atopy among children in Leipzig, East Germany. Lancet 351:862–866
- von Mutius E, Schwartz J, Neas LM, Dockery D, Weiss ST (2001) Relation of body mass index to asthma and atopy in children: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Study III. Thorax 56:835–838

- Vork KL, Broadwin RL, Blaisdell RJ (2007) Developing asthma in childhood from exposure to secondhand tobacco smoke: insights from a meta-regression. Environ Health Perspect 115:1394–1400
- Waser M, Michels KB, Bieli C, Floistrup H, Pershagen G, von Mutius E, Ege M, Riedler J, Schram-Bijkerk D, Brunekreef B, van Hage M, Lauener R, Braun-Fahrlander C (2007) Inverse association of farm milk consumption with asthma and allergy in rural and suburban populations across Europe. Clin Exp Allergy 37:661–670
- Watson JP, Cowen P, Lewis RA (1996) The relationship between asthma admission rates, routes of admission, and socioeconomic deprivation. Eur Respir J 9:2087–2093
- Weeke E (1992) Epidemiology of allergic diseases in children. Rhinology 30(Suppl 13):5-12
- Weiland SK, Pearce N (2004) Asthma prevalence in adults: good news? Thorax 59:637-638
- Weinberg EG (2000) Urbanization and childhood asthma: an African perspective. J Allergy Clin Immunol 105:224–231
- Weinmayr G, Weiland SK, Bjorksten B, Brunekreef B, Buchele G, Cookson WO, Garcia-Marcos L, Gotua M, Gratziou C, van Hage M, von Mutius E, Riikjarv MA, Rzehak P, Stein RT, Strachan DP, Tsanakas J, Wickens K, Wong GW (2007) Atopic sensitization and the international variation of asthma symptom prevalence in children. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 176: 565–574
- Weitzman M, Gortmaker SL, Sobol AM, Perrin JM (1992) Recent trends in the prevalence and severity of childhood asthma. JAMA 268:2673–2677
- Wenzel S, Holgate ST (2006) The mouse trap: it still yields few answers in asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 174:1173–1176
- Whincup PH, Cook DG, Strachan DP, Papacosta O (1993) Time trends in respiratory symptoms in childhood over a 24 year period. Arch Dis Child 68:729–734
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2005) Air quality guidelines, global update 2005. Particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulphur dioxide. WHO Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen
- World Health Organization (WHO) (2007) Global surveillance, prevention and control of chronic respiratory diseases: a comprehensive approach. World Health Organization, Geneva
- World Health Organization (WHO) MONICA Project Principal Investigators (1988) The World Health Organization MONICA project (monitoring trends and determinants in cardiovascular disease): a major international collaboration. J Clin Epidemiol 41:105–114
- Wickens K, Lane JM, Fitzharris P, Siebers R, Riley G, Douwes J, Smith T, Crane J (2002) Farm residence and exposures and the risk of allergic diseases in New Zealand children. Allergy 57:1171–1179
- Wjst M, Hoelscher B, Frye C, Wichmann HE, Dold S, Heinrich J (2001) Early antibiotic treatment and later asthma. Eur J Med Res 6:263–271
- Wright RJ, Fay ME, Suglia SF, Clark CJ, Evans JS, Dockery DW, Behbehani J (2010) Warrelated stressors are associated with asthma risk among older Kuwaitis following the 1990 Iraqi invasion and occupation. J Epidemiol Community Health 64:630–635
- Yunginger JW, Reed CE, O'Connell EJ, Melton LJ 3rd, O'Fallon WM, Silverstein MD (1992) A community-based study of the epidemiology of asthma. Incidence rates, 1964–1983. Am Rev Respir Dis 146:888–894
- Zamel N, McClean PA, Sandell PR, Siminovitch KA, Slutsky AS, Balter M, Canny G, Chapman K, Dzyngel B, Kesten S, Reisman J, Tarlo S, Urch B (1996) Asthma on Tristan de Cunha: looking for the genetic link. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 153:1902–1906